	3 2
	0 Z
Social Movements and Poverty in Developing Countries	P a p e r
Anthony Bebbington	

Social Movements and Poverty in Developing Countries

Anthony Bebbington

Civil Society and Social Movements Programme Paper Number 32 October 2010



This United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD) Programme Paper has been produced with the support of UNRISD core funds. UNRISD thanks the governments of Denmark, Finland, Mexico, South Africa, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom for their core funding.

Copyright © UNRISD. Short extracts from this publication may be reproduced unaltered without authorization on condition that the source is indicated. For rights of reproduction or translation, application should be made to UNRISD, Palais des Nations, 1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland. UNRISD welcomes such applications.

The designations employed in UNRISD publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNRISD concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The responsibility for opinions expressed rests solely with the author(s), and publication does not constitute endorsement by UNRISD.

Contents

Acronyms	ii
Acknowledgements	ii
Summary/Résumé/Resumen	iii
Summary	iii
Résumé	iv
Resumen	vi
Social Movements	1
The nature of movements	1
The "why" of movements	2
Why movements might matter	4
Analytical Framework	5
Livelihoods, poverty and movements	6
Movements and state/market/civil society frameworks	9
Livelihoods and movement dynamics around poverty	12
Social Movements and Poverty Reduction in the Sphere of Production	13
Movements and livelihood security	14
Movements and employment	20
Movements and public investment for poverty reduction: A Bolivian case	21
Social Movements and Poverty Reduction in the Sphere	
of Collective Consumption	23
Demanding, proposing, facilitating: Movements and collective consumption	24
The Autonomy Problem: Professional Organizations and	
Membership Organizations	29
Conclusions	31
The relationship between social movements and poverty	31
On movement strategy	32
On production and collective consumption	33
Bibliography	35
UNRISD Programme Papers on Civil Society and Social Movements	39
Figures	
Figure 1: A livelihoods framework	7
Tables	
Table 1: Responses of leaders of movements in Peru on which actors are part of their movements	29

...

Acronyms

AIDESEP	Asociación Interétnica de Desarrollo de la Selva Peruana (Association of Indigenous Peoples for the Development of the Peruvian Jungle)
ALCA	Area de Libre Comercio en las Américas (Free Trade Area of the Americas/FTAA)
ANC	African National Congress
APCI	Agencia Peruana de Cooperación Internacional <i>(Peruvian Agency for International Cooperation)</i>
СВО	community-based organization
ССР	Confederación Campesino de Perú (Peruvian Peasant Confederation)
CNA	Confederación Nacional Agraria (National Agrarian Confederation)
CONACAMI	Confederación Nacional de Comunidades del Perú Afectadas por la Minería (Confederation of Communities Affected by Mining)
Conveagro	Convención Nacional de Agro Peruano (National Convention for Peruvian Agriculture)
FTA	free trade agreement (Tratado de Libre Comercio/TLC)
FTAA	Free Trade Area of the Americas (Area de Libre Comercio en las Américas/ALCA)
ILO	International Labour Organization
MAS	Movimiento al Socialismo
MDG	Millennium Development Goal
NGO	non-governmental organization
NSDF	National Slum Dwellers Federation
OECD	Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development
SDI	Shack/Slum Dwellers International
SEWA	Self-Employed Women's Association
SMO	social movement organization
SPARC	Society for the Promotion of Area Research Centre
TLC	Tratado de Libre Comercio (free trade agreement/FTA)
US	United States

Acknowledgements

This paper draws heavily on two research projects supported by the UK Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC). The first of these is titled Social Movements and Poverty (RES 167-25-0170) with more information available at www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/socialmovements. The second is titled Conflicts over the Countryside: Civil Society and the Political Ecology of Rural Development in the Andean Region (RES-051-27-0191), with more information at www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/andes. I wish to acknowledge the collaboration with, and work of, Diana Mitlin, Leonith Hinojosa, Denise Humphreys Bebbington, Mari Burneo, Martin Scurrah, Claudia Bieliech and Jan Mogaladi on those projects. The paper also draws on a writing project with Sam Hickey and Diana Mitlin (see Bebbington et al. 2008a). I am grateful to Peter Utting and Rebecca Buchholz for orientation, and to Yusuf Bangura, Shahra Razavi, Martin Scurrah, Peter Utting and two anonymous reviewers for comments on earlier drafts.

Summary/Résumé/Resumen

Summary

Poverty and inequality are both products and producers of the prevailing relationships of power in a society. By many definitions, social movements are understood as questioning the nature and exercise of power in society. As such they also play roles in challenging relationships of poverty and inequality. This paper explores some of these roles.

The paper first discusses characteristics of social movements – their motivations, emergence and strategies. Languages of justice and rights are far more prominent in social movements than are languages of poverty reduction. Movements rarely take on the mantle of "being poor" as an identity-based grievance, and few movement leaders think of themselves or their bases in this way. Indeed, many movements argue that a policy focus on poverty is depoliticizing and diverts attention from structures of inequality and exclusion.

While this does not mean that movements are irrelevant to poverty, it does imply that to bring the two themes together requires a particular framing of poverty (as more than income-based), of the causes of poverty (as rooted, ultimately, in relationships of power), and of policy (as determined, ultimately, by political processes in which movements are one of many actors). It is from this starting point that the paper argues that movements are in fact of great relevance to discussions of poverty reduction. This is so both because they challenge dominant ways in which poverty is understood, and because their own actions suggest alternative pathways toward the reduction of poverty and inequality.

As a heuristic, the paper discusses these relationships through combining livelihoods frameworks and a simple state/market/civil society framework. Livelihoods frameworks help to consider poverty in terms of material well-being, power and meaning/cultural identity, and approach the causes of poverty in terms of access to, and control over, assets and the institutional and policy arrangements that structure people's possibilities. The state/market/civil society frameworks help frame the policies and institutional components of livelihoods frameworks as products of the interactions and power relations among actors operating in these three spheres. These same interactions and power relationships determine the dominant discourses which shape livelihoods and policy in a more general sense. This combined framework makes social movements and power relationships endogenous to livelihoods and poverty. It also helps map the different points at which movements might interact with poverty dynamics. Indeed, one advantage of the livelihoods approach is that it combines both production and consumption (or production and reproduction) within a single analytical framework. The paper therefore organizes its discussion of movements and poverty around this distinction between production and consumption. On the production side, the paper discusses how movements might interact with both incremental and abrupt shifts in livelihood security, with questions of employment and with the relationships between the macroeconomy and public investment in poverty reduction. On the consumption side, the paper focuses on the links between movements and collective consumption, with an emphasis on housing, shelter, infrastructure and services. Cases are drawn from Bolivia, India, Peru and South Africa.

In the domains of both production and consumption, movements pursue a range of strategies. At the less contentious end of the spectrum, these strategies include direct provisioning as well as co-production with public agencies. More contentious are those strategies that involve negotiation and lobbying, and at the most contentious end are strategies involving outright protest and direct action. Choice of strategy, its relative success and its influence on poverty and inequality vary depending on the context, on the capacities of the movement and on the political regime. As a very general pattern, however, it appears that movement politics are more contentious around questions of production than of consumption, and under political regimes with which movements clearly have an oppositional relationship. More generally, movement-

state interactions appear to be most contentious when movements call into question and challenge basic rules that underlie the way that both economy and society are organized. While states are more likely to renegotiate particular projects or areas of expenditure, they are far less inclined to cede ground on basic rules and principles (for instance, principles related to property ownership, stability of contracts to overseas investors, taxation rates and so on).

Historical analogy would suggest that sustained poverty reduction has come from system-wide changes, many of which are institutional in character. Such changes include, for instance, the establishment of taxation systems that redistribute from profits and wages to public investment in services; long-term increases in real wages; and a broadening of access to entitlements that come with participation in the formal economy. In societies of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), there is reason to argue that many such institutions have emerged at least partly as a result of the mobilization and negotiation conducted by broad-based social organizations existing outside the state and political parties. Indeed, one of the most important effects of movements is to induce the creation of new public institutions that contribute to poverty reduction and that favour a certain evening out of power relationships in society. In this sense, just as social movements are endogenous to livelihood, so they are also to state formation. Understood this way, there is little choice but to recognize their importance for poverty reduction.

Anthony Bebbington is Higgins Professor of Environment and Society, and Director of the Graduate School of Geography at Clark University, United States.

Résumé

La pauvreté et l'inégalité sont à la fois produits et producteurs des rapports de force existant dans une société. De nombreuses définitions des mouvements sociaux font état d'une contestation de la nature et de l'exercice du pouvoir dans la société. Cette contestation les conduit aussi à remettre en cause les relations de pauvreté et d'inégalité. Ce document approfondit certains des rôles qu'ils jouent dans ce sens.

L'auteur traite d'abord des caractéristiques des mouvements sociaux—leurs motivations, leur naissance et leurs stratégies. Le discours de la justice et des droits y est beaucoup plus répandu que celui de la réduction de la pauvreté. Il est rare que les mouvements arborent le manteau de la pauvreté comme une revendication identitaire et rares en sont les dirigeants qui se conçoivent comme pauvres ou perçoivent leur base de cette manière. En fait, de nombreux mouvements font valoir que des politiques axées sur la pauvreté dépolitisent les structures d'inégalité et d'exclusion et détournent d'elles l'attention.

Cela ne veut pas dire que les mouvements soient étrangers à la pauvreté mais cela implique que la conjonction des deux thèmes impose une présentation particulière de la pauvreté (qui n'est pas seulement celle des revenus), de ses causes (la pauvreté venant en dernière analyse de certains rapports de force) et de la politique menée en la matière (définie en dernier ressort par des processus politiques dans lesquels les mouvements sont l'un des nombreux acteurs). Ce point de départ conduit l'auteur à affirmer que les mouvements sont en fait d'une grande pertinence pour les débats relatifs à la réduction de la pauvreté. Il en est ainsi à la fois parce qu'ils remettent en cause la conception dominante de la pauvreté et que leurs propres actes laissent à penser qu'il est possible d'emprunter d'autres voies pour faire reculer la pauvreté et les inégalités.

Comme heuristique, le document traite de ces rapports en combinant deux grilles d'analyse, celle des moyens d'existence et celle des simples relations entre l'Etat, le marché et la société civile. La grille des moyens d'existence aide à penser à la pauvreté en termes de bien-être matériel, de pouvoir et de sens ou d'identité culturelle, et à aborder les causes de la pauvreté sous l'angle de l'accès aux biens et de la maîtrise de ces biens, ainsi que les mécanismes institutionnels et politiques qui structurent les possibilités des individus. La grille Etat-marché-

société civile aide à présenter les politiques et les composantes institutionnelles de la grille des moyens d'existence comme des produits des interactions et des rapports de force entre les acteurs opérant dans ces trois sphères. Ces mêmes interactions et rapports de force marquent de leur empreinte les discours dominants qui se répercutent de manière générale sur les moyens d'existence et le choix des politiques. Cette combinaison de grilles rendent les mouvements sociaux et les rapports de force endogènes aux moyens d'existence et à la pauvreté. Elle aide aussi à situer les différents points où les mouvements pourraient interagir avec la dynamique de la pauvreté. En fait, cette approche des moyens d'existence a l'avantage d'associer dans une même grille d'analyse la production et la consommation (ou la production et la reproduction). L'auteur organise donc son traitement des mouvements et de la pauvreté autour de cette distinction entre production et consommation. Du côté production, il se demande comment les mouvements pourraient interagir avec les changements tant progressifs que soudains qui affectent la sécurité des moyens d'existence, avec les questions d'emploi et les rapports entre la macroéconomie et l'investissement public dans la réduction de la pauvreté. Du côté consommation, l'auteur se concentre sur les liens entre mouvements et consommation collective, en s'intéressant surtout au logement, aux refuges, à l'infrastructure et aux services. Les études de cas concernent l'Afrique du Sud, la Bolivie, l'Inde et le Pérou.

Dans les domaines de la production et de la consommation, les mouvements appliquent des stratégies diverses. A l'extrémité la moins controversée du spectre, ces stratégies consistent notamment en une prise en charge directe ainsi qu'en une coproduction avec les institutions publiques. Puis viennent les stratégies qui font appel à la négociation et au lobbying, et enfin les stratégies de protestation et d'action directes. Le choix de la stratégie, son succès relatif et son influence sur la pauvreté et l'inégalité varient selon le contexte, les capacités du mouvement, et le régime politique. Toutefois, s'il faut dégager un schéma très général, il semble que la politique des mouvements soit plus contestée autour des questions de production que de consommation, et dans des régimes politiques avec lesquels les mouvements sont manifestement en opposition. De manière générale, les interactions mouvements-Etat semblent être les plus litigieuses lorsque les mouvements contestent et défient les règles fondamentales qui régissent l'organisation de l'économie et de la société. Si les Etats sont relativement prêts à renégocier des projets particuliers ou des postes de dépenses, ils sont beaucoup moins enclins à céder sur des règles et principes fondamentaux (touchant par exemple à la propriété, à la stabilité des contrats avec les investisseurs étrangers, aux taux d'imposition, etc.).

Par le passé, ce sont des changements de nature institutionnelle survenus à l'échelle du système tout entier qui ont permis de faire reculer la pauvreté de manière durable. Parmi ces changements, on peut mentionner par exemple la mise en place de systèmes d'imposition permettant de redistribuer aux services une partie des bénéfices et des salaires par le biais de l'investissement public; des augmentations à long terme des salaires réels; et un élargissement de l'accès aux droits liés à la participation à l'économie organisée. Il existe des raisons de croire que, dans les pays de l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques (OCDE), beaucoup de ces institutions doivent leur existence, au moins en partie, à la mobilisation et aux négociations d'organisations sociales dotées d'une large base et extérieures à l'Etat et aux partis politiques. En fait, l'un des effets les plus importants des mouvements est d'induire la création de nouvelles institutions publiques contribuant à faire reculer la pauvreté et favorisant un certain équilibrage des forces dans la société. Dans ce sens, si les mouvements sociaux sont endogènes aux moyens d'existence, ils le sont aussi à la formation de l'Etat. Lorsqu'on les conçoit de cette manière, on n'a guère d'autre choix que de reconnaître leur importance pour la réduction de la pauvreté.

Anthony Bebbington est titulaire de la chaire Higgins "Environnement et société" et directeur de la Graduate School of Geography de la Clark University, Etats-Unis.

Resumen

La pobreza y la desigualdad son productos y, a la vez, productores de las relaciones de poder prevalecientes en una sociedad. Muchas definiciones interpretan los movimientos sociales como elementos que cuestionan la naturaleza y el ejercicio del poder en la sociedad. En ese sentido, también se ocupan de desafiar las relaciones de pobreza y desigualdad. En este documento se analizan algunas de estas funciones de los movimientos sociales.

El documento comienza con un análisis de las características de los movimientos sociales: sus motivaciones, su surgimiento y sus estrategias. El lenguaje de la justicia y los derechos es mucho más prominente en los movimientos sociales que el lenguaje de la reducción de la pobreza. Son contados los casos en que los movimientos sociales se cubren con el manto de "ser pobres" como un reclamo basado en la identidad, y son pocos sus líderes que se ven a sí mismos o a sus bases en estos términos. De hecho, muchos de estos movimientos sostienen que un enfoque de política sobre la pobreza está despolitizando el problema y desviando la atención de las estructuras de desigualdad y exclusión.

Si bien lo anterior no significa que los movimientos sociales son irrelevantes para la pobreza, sí implica que para poder acercar estos dos temas, es necesario enmarcar la pobreza de una determinada manera (más allá del mero criterio de los ingresos); lo mismo habría que hacer con respecto a las causas de la pobreza (arraigadas, en última instancia, en las relaciones de poder) y la política (determinada, a la postre, por procesos políticos en los cuales los movimientos sociales son apenas uno de muchos actores). Es a partir de esta premisa, se argumenta en el documento que los movimientos sociales son realmente pertinentes en los debates sobre la reducción de la pobreza. Ello es cierto tanto porque cuestionan las formas dominantes en que se interpreta la pobreza como porque sus propias acciones proponen vías alternativas hacia la reducción de la pobreza y la desigualdad.

A guisa de motivación heurística, se examinan en el trabajo estas relaciones por medio de la combinación de marcos de subsistencia con un simple marco Estado, mercado y sociedad civil. Los marcos de subsistencia permiten pensar acerca de la pobreza desde la perspectiva del bienestar material, el poder y la identidad cultural y de significado, y abordar las causas de la pobreza desde el punto de vista del acceso a los bienes y su control, así como de los arreglos institucionales y de política que estructuran las posibilidades de las personas. Los marcos de Estado, mercado y sociedad civil contribuyen a enmarcar las políticas y componentes institucionales de los marcos de subsistencia como productos de las interacciones y las relaciones de poder entre los actores que operan en estas tres esferas. Estas mismas interacciones y relaciones de poder determinan los discursos dominantes que dan forma a las subsistencias y a la política en un sentido más general. Este marco combinado hace de los movimientos sociales y las relaciones de poder elementos endógenos de las subsistencias y la pobreza. También ayuda a ubicar los diferentes puntos en los que los movimientos podrían interactuar con la dinámica de la pobreza. En efecto, una ventaja del enfoque de las subsistencias es que, en un solo marco analítico, combina la producción y el consumo (o la producción y reproducción). Por lo tanto, en este documento se organiza el análisis de los movimientos y la pobreza en torno a la diferenciación entre producción y consumo. En el lado de la producción, se examina la forma en que los movimientos podrían interactuar con los cambios, tanto graduales como abruptos, de la seguridad de subsistencia, y se formulan preguntas relacionadas con el empleo y con las relaciones entre la macroeconomía y las inversiones públicas en la reducción de la pobreza. En el lado del consumo, se analizan los vínculos entre los movimientos y el consumo colectivo, con énfasis en la vivienda, el abrigo, la infraestructura y los servicios. En esta parte se tratan casos concretos de Bolivia, la India, el Perú v Sudáfrica.

Tanto en el área de la producción como en el ámbito del consumo, los movimientos sociales llevan a cabo una gama de estrategias. En el extremo menos contencioso del espectro se encuentran las estrategias como el suministro directo y la coproducción con organismos públicos. Al centro se encuentran otras estrategias más contenciosas que entrañan negociación y cabildeo, mientras que en el extremo más contencioso se ubican las estrategias de protesta y acción directa. La selección de la estrategia, su éxito relativo y su influencia sobre la pobreza y la desigualdad varían según el contexto, las capacidades del movimiento y el régimen político. No obstante, como patrón general, parecería que la política de los movimientos se hace más contenciosa cuando se trata de cuestiones relacionadas con la producción que con el consumo, y de regímenes políticos con los cuales los movimientos sociales mantienen una relación de oposición. En términos más generales, las interacciones entre los movimientos y el Estado parecen hacerse más contenciosas cuando los primeros cuestionan y refutan las reglas básicas que apuntalan la forma en que se organizan la economía y la sociedad. Si bien los estados posiblemente estén más inclinados a renegociar determinados proyectos o áreas de gastos, se muestran mucho menos dispuestos a ceder terreno cuando se trata de reglas básicas y principios (por ejemplo, los principios relativos a la titularidad de la propiedad, la estabilidad de los contratos a inversionistas extranjeros, las tasas de tributación, etc.).

La analogía histórica indica que la reducción sostenida de la pobreza ha sido el resultado de cambios introducidos a nivel todo el sistema, muchos de los cuales son de índole institucional. Entre dichos cambios cabría mencionar, a manera de ejemplo: el establecimiento de sistemas tributarios que hacen una redistribución de los ingresos y los salarios hacia la inversión pública en servicios; los aumentos a largo plazo de los salarios reales; y el incremento del acceso a los derechos que dimanan de la participación en la economía formal. En los países de la Organización de Cooperación y Desarrollo Económicos (OCDE) no existen motivos para argumentar que muchas instituciones de este tipo han surgido, al menos en parte, como consecuencia de la movilización y negociación que han llevado adelante organizaciones sociales de amplia base que existen fuera del Estado y los partidos políticos. De hecho, uno de los efectos más importantes de los movimientos es el inducir la creación de nuevas instituciones públicas que contribuyen a la reducción de la pobreza y favorecen una excepción a las relaciones de poder en la sociedad. En ese sentido, así como los movimientos sociales son elementos endógenos de la subsistencia, también lo son de la formación del estado. Desde esa perspectiva, no queda más que reconocer su importancia para la reducción de la pobreza.

Anthony Bebbington es profesor Higgins de medio ambiente y sociedad y director de la Escuela de Postgrado en Geografía de la Universidad Clark, Estados Unidos.

Social Movements

Poverty is a product of prevailing relations of power, and social movements emerge as part of, and in response to, these power relations. Such movements are, therefore, relevant for discussions of poverty and its reduction. However, relatively few social movements emerge specifically around the issue of poverty, in particular when poverty is defined as a lack of something. Instead, they emerge to challenge dominant ideas as to how society should be organized, to draw attention to needs not currently attended to under existing social arrangements, to argue that existing arrangements need protecting and deepening, and to make visible identities rendered invisible or abnormal by prevailing relationships of power. Thus, even if the general relevance of social movements to poverty might seem relatively clear, the specific ways in which movements and poverty connect require much more elaboration. This is the primary purpose of this paper. The text will argue that there are many causal pathways that can run from movements to poverty, but that the relative significance of any particular pathway depends on the domain of contention in question, the type of social movement involved, and the general political economy context. The paper traces some of these pathways first in a general sense, and then in two particular domains: that of production and that of collective consumption. The focus of the paper is on social movements outside countries of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), although at certain points it draws on insights from research that has explored the connections between contentious politics, movements, poverty and political change in Western Europe and the United States (see, for example, Andrews 2001; Tilly 2004a, 2004b).

The nature of movements

Just as "a swallow does not a spring make", social movements are also more than one-off mobilizations. A short-term campaign or a week of street protests might be dramatic and attract press attention, but they are ultimately short-lived events. However, when protests and campaigns are linked to a series of other activities, sustained over time and across different geographical locations, and all ultimately oriented toward making a similar set of arguments, then the phenomenon differs from a mere mobilization and specific campaign and reflects something that might be referred to as a "social movement". Even so, social movements are notoriously difficult to define more precisely. Indeed, some have preferred to talk of "contentious politics" as a domain of political interaction rather than of movements as a specific sort of political actor (Tilly 1995).

Here, then, there are two starting points for delimiting social movements: first, movements are associated with contention and disagreement (McAdam et al. 2001); and second, they are diffuse and not easily categorized. The first observation immediately implies that movements are quite different from the types of self-help and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) that have been extensively studied in third sector and community development research, as well as from the more general civic associationalism to which Robert Putnam's work has drawn so much attention (Putnam 1993, 2000). The second point, that movements are diffuse, is also useful because it insists from the outset that a distinction must be made between movements and organizations – for if movements were single organizations then they would have proven easy to identify, catalogue and categorize. This distinction finds support (albeit argued in quite distinct ways) in different currents of literature. Post-structural approaches, for instance, are more inclined to understand movements themselves as a sort of subaltern discourse, a process that makes an argument for the legitimacy of identities and claims that are typically marginalized or excluded within the current social order. Such a process might be carried forward by a composite of leaders, organizations and technologies, though essential to it is the presence of a set of ideas and arguments.

There is overlap here with the idea that movements are a sort of "assemblage", composed of parts that, though they have their own identities, also, when linked together, perform different but related roles within a larger entity. The concept has been used to consider various social phenomena (Ong and Collier 2005), and is potentially useful for understanding movements

which, seen as a larger entity, are nonetheless composed of organizations, ideas, social networks, technologies and repertoires of action. Such ideas resonate with the longer standing notion that distinctions can be made between movements and "social movement organizations" (SMOs) (McCarthy and Zald 1977). Here the argument is that movement actions and processes require financial, human, informational, social and other resources that more localized and/or informal social networks are unable to mobilize.¹ Such resources can almost only be channelled by formal organizations such as NGOs, churches, student groups, formal peasant or ethnic associations, and university programmes, each of which can play an important role in keeping movements "moving" by maintaining debates, supporting events, nurturing leaders during ebbs in movement activity, and more generally in helping produce "Melucci's submerged networks or latent social movements" (Townsend et al. 2004:871). Such organizations also play important roles in forming movement discourses, although in the process different SMOs may have distinct ideas of how movement discourse should evolve and can end up pulling a movement in somewhat different directions (see McCarthy and Zald 1977). Nonetheless, such SMOs remain only part of the structure or culture of movements-the social movement itself is a broader phenomenon.

The "why" of movements

Thinking through how movements might be composed tells us little about why they come into being in the first instance. Habermas (1987) explains this emergence in terms of a progressive "colonization of the lifeworld", a process in which external institutions (including the market) exercise progressively greater control over daily practices. The incursion of new forms of investment in rural environments, the accelerating effects of cultural modernization on traditional practices, new practices of dispossession (see Harvey 2003), the liberalization of markets and upsetting of price bands, employment relations and more generally of the moral economy²—all constitute forms of colonization of everyday practice that are often associated with the interventions of external institutions. Habermas suggests that, in the face of this colonization, social movements emerge as efforts to defend and recover threatened forms of life and social organization.

A slightly distinct argument is that social movements emerge as part of a heightening sense of grievance around issues of identity and adverse social relationships (Escobar and Alvarez 1992). This might occur because of political economic changes that generate new reasons for grievance, or because of endogenous changes that lead social groups to become more aware of reasons to complain, and more articulate in framing and voicing such complaints. These changes might occur due to processes of consciousness raising, education, experiences deriving from migration, the emergence of new charismatic and visionary leaders, or the arrival of new support organizations (such as NGOs or religious organizations).

A variant on this argument would lay less emphasis on pure grievance, and instead also draw attention to movement emergence in response to opportunity. There is a resonance here with the "political opportunity structure" approach to movements, which understands their emergence and success in terms of shifts in the political and institutional environment that open up new possibilities. Such changes might mean that grievances become imaginable, and resources become claimable in ways that had not previously been the case. Transitions to democracy, rapid expansion of the presence of the state in social provisioning, or mineral booms generating unprecedented levels of public finance might all have this effect. For instance, one argument to explain the growth of housing and urban services movements in South Africa is that they have emerged precisely because the post-apartheid state has, through its own actions, legitimized claim-making around houses and services, albeit unconsciously so (Mitlin and Mogaladi 2009).

¹ Crossley 2002; McAdam et al. 1988; Ballard et al. 2005:627.

² Scott 1976; Edelman 1999; Ballard et al. 2005.

Importantly, such responses to grievance or colonization need not only be self-oriented. There is something of a tendency in writing on movements (as well as in the realpolitik of slandering them) to assume that movements emerge to attend to their own needs, but this is not necessarily so. Indeed, it is possible to distinguish between movements with more particularistic interests and those with more universal orientations. Peasant, worker, squatter and indigenous movements might, for instance, generally be seen as more particularistic in orientation, making claims, expressing grievances and elaborating arguments that are primarily oriented toward meeting their own bases' concerns. By contrast, human rights and environmental movements are more universal in orientation. While specific organizations within them might make claims based on their own interests (for example, groups of displaced people claiming reparation, or conservation NGOs mobilizing for environmental protection so that they can subsequently gain contracts for managing protected areas), these movements as a whole make claims for principles more than interests – principles hinging around the respect of basic rights for all people and all environments.

A similar caveat is that—again, notwithstanding the sense given in much literature and even activism—movements are not only phenomena of the "classic subaltern". There have also been neoliberal movements (indeed the incarnation of neoliberalism in all manner of policy domains has to be seen as a real success for such movements), movements for a return to conservative theology within the Roman Catholic church, evangelical movements and racist movements. At a given point in time the ideas sustained by these movements have been considered (and indeed were) marginalized, and these movements reflect(ed) efforts to make them more possible, and progressively more hegemonic either within society as a whole (the neoliberal movement), a particular country (conservative movements in Evo Morales' Bolivia—see below), or particular institutions (traditionalist Catholic and evangelical movements within their respective churches).

A further observation, and an implication of the above, is that movements are unlikely to emerge around issues of poverty per se, but rather around processes linked to production of poverty. Thus, by way of hypothetical illustration, one rarely encounters movements that emerge to demand social protection policies for their bases on the grounds that they are poor. Conversely there are many more cases of movements that contest existing distributional arrangements and economic and social policies on the grounds that they will increase inequities or actually create poverty. Examples would include landless peoples or peasant movements contesting tenure arrangements, indigenous movements contesting policies leading to displacement and resettlement, or trade unions contesting policies that reduce workers' rights and benefits. These are instances where movements and movement organizations contest processes and policies which they claim will lead to impoverishment in a material sense. Likewise, many movements challenge discursive processes of impoverishment, as for instance when governments and others seek to classify certain groups as poor in order to then justify particular policies on the grounds that they will help these poor people. This type of contestation of discursive impoverishment is, for instance, apparent in indigenous movements that insist that their bases are not poor by definition but rather that they have been made poor by particular policies and relationships of power, and/or that dominant society fails to see the alternative forms of wealth which exist in indigenous societies.

That movements emerge around drivers, rather than symptoms or immediate sources, of poverty, and that they address these issues through protest and political action, means that they have the effect of politicizing poverty, placing it in its broader context and highlighting ways in which poverty is related to structures of power. Furthermore, in this process the scope of "the political" is broadened. Thus while movements may have links to political parties and elected representatives, through their actions they also assert that the politics of poverty reduction is not circumscribed by the domains of formal electoral politics. Instead there is also an effort to politicize the use of the "language of poverty", classifications of certain groups defined as poor, and unexamined aspects of social organization that are taken for granted (such as access to opportunities in society).

UNRISD PROGRAMME ON CIVIL SOCIETY AND SOCIAL MOVEMENTS PAPER NUMBER 32

Why movements might matter

The distinction between movements and movement organizations is a useful starting point for considering why social movements might be of particular relevance for poverty reduction. In general, academic and policy discussion of the relationships between civil society (or the third sector) and development has tended to focus on organizations. NGOs have attracted the most attention.³ Initially this work had a tone that varied between the cautiously optimistic and the gung-ho, though over the course of two decades of research, conclusions have become progressively less sanguine regarding both the actual and potential effectiveness of NGOs as well as their accountability and legitimacy. Indeed, it has been noted that NGOs are but a small and recent part of civil society (Lewis 2002), and that none of the major social advances in modern society have hinged around their work (or the work of similar organizations). Similar conclusions can be drawn regarding community-based organizations (CBOs) that have also attracted attention. While such organizations might foster local participation in the resolution of localized problems, they have generally had neither the predisposition nor the capacity to engage larger and structural social problems head on.

Reflections such as these have led to a reframing of general questions about civil society and development, as well as of more specific questions about NGOs and grassroots organizations. This reframing shifts from the question "what is the role of a given civil society organization", to asking "under what conditions have, and might, societies move toward more inclusive and equitable development trajectories".⁴ The analysis of actual changes illuminates the role played by different actors in these processes. One conclusion from such analyses is that important changes have generally involved political processes and non-state actors.⁵ This follows insights that many of the most important social reforms, and the most important social foundations of the modern welfare state, have emerged in a context of, and due to, social conflict (Tilly 2004a, 2004b; Tarrow 1994).

These conclusions have several implications for the "civil society and development" literature. First, they affirm the importance of "civil society actors" in processes of social change, but demand that actors not be considered in isolation but rather as part of constellations of nonstate actors. Specifically, this means that, beyond their localized interventions, NGOs and CBOs only become significant when they are part of broader social processes. NGOs' relationships with, or roles within, social movements thus seem particularly important in determining their relative effectiveness (Bebbington et al. 2008a; Bolnick 2008). Second, civil society is best understood not as a sphere of non-state collective action (as has often been the case in development writing) but rather as a sphere of contention in which dominant ideas about how society should be organized are argued over (Howell and Pearce 2001; Bebbington and Hickey 2006), with some becoming dominant and ultimately translating into law and policy. Third, in the light of the historical record suggesting that much of the contemporary state has origins in struggles within society, with new state institutions emerging to mediate, regulate and/or implement the outcomes of those struggles, then civil society and the state need to be understood in relation to each other. Civil society understood this way is not a residual category, performing roles that government does not, or partnering with government to implement programmes. Instead the boundary between what is "in" the state and what is "in" civil society is itself an effect of a particular balance of power and hegemony of ideas. Understood this way, when civil society organizations implement programmes with no state support, this ought to be understood as an indication of failure rather than of institutional capacity-the failure being that the ideas underlying these programmes have not become hegemonic, and so the state has not yet assumed them.

³ For just a few of the now many books on this topic, see Clark (1991); Edwards and Hulme (1992, 1995); Hulme and Edwards (1997); Lewis (2001); Farrington and Bebbington (1993); Bebbington et al. (2008a).

⁴ This reframing can also be seen in more institutional interventions—see for instance the *World Development Report on Equity and Development* (World Bank 2005) and the second *Chronic Poverty Report* (CPRC 2008), which is quite different from the first (CPRC 2004).

⁵ Ironically one of the earlier "NGO books" (Clark 1991) did something similar, arguing on the basis of historical analogy that voluntary action, often involving advocacy, was critical to pro-poor policy change.

These three implications suggest the potential significance of social movements. First, the presence and strength of their relationships with NGOs go a long way in determining how relevant and potentially successful these NGOs will be in fostering poverty reduction or social inclusion. Or put another way, and more bluntly, NGOs without links to movements are not very interesting if the issue is social change. Second, because movements are those processes through which "invisible" and excluded identities are projected, made visible and given voice in society, and to the extent that these movements have a mass base, then they are likely to play significant roles in the determination of the ideas and ways of thinking that dominate in a society. Third, the relative presence/absence and strength/weakness of social movements are central in determining the nature and reach of the state, as well as the boundary between what the state does for particular parts of society and what those parts of society have to do for themselves.

To summarize then, this paper takes the notion of social movement to refer to processes of spatially and temporally diffuse collective action that—notwithstanding their diffuse nature and their ebbs and flows—are sustained over time and framed within a shared identity and set of programmatic commitments. This definition is similar to Ballard et al.'s (2005:617) notion of movements, for the South African case, as being "politically and/or socially directed collectives". Although the actors involved do not necessarily share exactly the same vision, there is an important degree of overlap between their respective goals and concerns, and it is this overlap that sustains the movement and gives it coherence. In this sense a social movement is a form of collective action but it is not itself an actor: rather it is a process, sustained by a set of actions and actors, in which what prevails is an action motivated by shared grievances and senses of injustice, and therefore by a vision—perhaps not specified—of the need to find another way of organizing society and thinking about development (Alvarez et al. 1998; Escobar 1995).

Finally, while reflections on social movements are frequently normative (the argument being that social movements necessarily look for something "better"), the approach taken here avoids this normative step. While it does take social movements to be reflections of discomfort and disagreement with the status quo, it understands their demands as being for something different rather than something "better". Social movements make visible alternative ideas and concepts about the forms that society (and development) should take. Social movements are, then, vectors of certain discourses and questionings and the extent to which a movement manages to change dominant discourse in a society is the principal indicator of its success.

Analytical Framework

A potentially fruitful way of organizing an analysis of the relationships between movements and poverty is to explore the intersections between movements and two other frameworks often used in development: asset-based livelihoods frameworks (which helps focus attention on poverty, but with a broad conception of the term) and state-market-civil society frameworks which help focus attention on the institutional domains through which poverty is governed.⁶ The advantage of this approach is not only that it provides a filter for organizing and clarifying an analysis of the points of contact between livelihoods and poverty, but also that it links a reflection on movements to other frameworks that have already been used to think through the relationships between poverty, human agency and political economy.

⁶ For sources on livelihood frameworks see, among others, Bebbington (1999); Scoones (1998); and Carney (1998).

Livelihoods, poverty and movements

Livelihoods approaches

Livelihood approaches came into vogue in the 1990s⁷ as part of a discussion that sought both to broaden understandings of poverty (with a view to emphasizing multidimensional approaches to poverty as opposed to approaching it through income only) and to insist that "poor" people are not powerless victims but rather human agents who have important knowledge regarding how their lots might be improved. Livelihood approaches argue that a careful analysis of how people compose livelihood strategies can suggest ways in which openings, however small, in the overall development model might be reworked and exploited by poor people and organizations that work alongside them.⁸ Such improvements in livelihood would also imply reductions in poverty. These approaches have combined a concern for poor people's agency, an interest in the asset bases of their livelihoods, and an acknowledgement of the ways in which institutions and structures affect livelihood options. Some such approaches focus particularly on the ways in which people – through both struggle and creativity – gain access to and control over resources.

Some livelihoods approaches – grounded more in actor-oriented sociology⁹ – pay greater attention to what poor people think and do, while others (tracing their roots to farming systems research, participatory and rapid rural appraisal) lay more emphasis on what people possess and control. Such frameworks focus on "what the poor have, rather than what they do not have" (Moser 1998:1) and understand livelihood strategies as the ways in which people gain access to these assets, combine them and transform them into livelihood outcomes. In particular the following types of asset¹⁰ tend to be emphasized (Bebbington 1999):

- human capital the assets that one has as a consequence of one's body: such as knowledge, health, skills and time;
- social capital the assets that one has as a consequence of one's relationships with
 others and one's membership in organizations, and which also facilitate access to
 other resources;
- produced capital both physical assets (infrastructure, technology, livestock, seeds and so on) and financial assets (money, working capital and assets easily converted into money);
- natural capital the quality and quantity of the natural resources to which one has access; and
- cultural capital the resources and symbols that one has as a result of the social structures within which one is embedded.

In addition to having a broad view of the assets upon which people draw, livelihood frameworks also have a wide view of what people pursue in their livelihoods—or, in other words, what they produce when they transform these assets. These frameworks thus work with a multidimensional view of poverty (Moser 1998) and aspiration (Appadurai 2004). The framework portrayed in figure 1 conveys the notion that, through their practices and strategies

⁷ Livelihood approaches have a somewhat longer genealogy than that traced here. Work in the 1970s on peasant economy, functional dualism and urban survival strategies also invoked a notion of livelihoods. The emphasis here, though, was on the structural constraints to livelihood—more recent approaches focus more on agency and asset-based potentials. Parts of this and following paragraphs draw on Bebbington (2004).

⁸ See, for instance, Bebbington (1997, 1999); Carney (1998); Moser (1998); Scoones (1998); Zoomers (1999).

⁹ For instance, see Zoomers (1998, 1999).

¹⁰ The use of "capital" as a term to refer to these different assets is not welcomed by all commentators. Among the criticisms are: that an economistic term should not be used to discuss phenomena that are at once material and cultural; that the terminology of capital should be limited to refer to the way it is used in Marxian analysis; and that these forms of capital do not share all the qualities of economic capital. The terminology is maintained here partly to sustain the continuity with these earlier interventions, and in part because capital nonetheless appears a more dynamic term than asset, drawing attention to the ways in which these assets can appreciate or depreciate over time, can generate other flows of value, can be destructive as well as productive, and require reinvestment if they are not to depreciate over time.

of asset management, people seek not only to generate material income (or income in kind), but also meaning and sociopolitical capabilities. There is thus an inherent relationship between livelihood and culture, and between livelihood and political capacity: livelihoods are in and of themselves meaningful, and a change or loss of livelihood possibilities necessarily implies cultural change. Likewise, a reworking of assets necessarily means a change in a person's ability to participate politically and in the concerns they will pursue in that political participation. Furthermore, just as livelihood trajectories and decisions have cultural and political consequences, they are also driven by cultural and political concerns.

The framework outlined in figure 1 also identifies two sets of institutional domains that are critical in determining livelihood dynamics. The first refers to those relationships that determine people's access to resources. These relationships might be ones in which people seek and secure resources themselves, or ones that provide resources to people. The second institutional domain refers to those factors determining the productivity, sustainability and reproducibility of these resources. In each domain, relevant institutions might be formal (for example, legislation and government policy), non-formal (such as market relationships and traditional tenure systems) or informal (such as community norms of redistribution and social networks); and, as intimated by these examples, these might be state, market or civil society institutions.¹¹





In emphasizing both the wide range of assets on which people draw, the range of outcomes produced through composing a livelihood, and the different institutional domains that mediate these processes, these approaches merge spheres of production and consumption, something that is not often noted. That is, the interest is in understanding how people produce the *life*

¹¹ The influence of the state on livelihoods can be profound, and is exercised in many ways through laws that influence who has access to resources; public policies and programmes that provide resources and influence market conditions; state-sanctioned violence that renders assets insecure and depresses local economies; levels of repression or democratization that influence the relative inclination of more powerful social groups to steal the assets of the poor, and so on. The influences of racism, patriarchy and dominant notions of authority are equally significant. The politics of economic policy making—that privileges particular macroeconomic strategies, sectors of the economy and regions over others—also has a critical influence on what people can do with their assets and on their long-term livelihood aspirations. While a policy framework that does little to offset the stagnation of peasant agriculture might elicit forms of collective rural radicalism as a response, at an individual level, it is at least as likely to translate into family strategies that aim to lay the bases for children to leave—to leave agriculture, to leave the countryside and to leave economically depressed regions.

outcomes that they desire, not just in understanding how they generate income, or how they reproduce the household as a domestic unit. In the pursuit of these life outcomes, people will access and transform some assets through spheres one might characterize as productive—for instance, accessing land through land tenure systems, or converting their human capital into income through participating in labour markets. Other assets, however, will be accessed and sustained through spheres more commonly associated with collective consumption. For instance, much human capital is accessed and sustained through engaging with state- or market-provided education and health care, and physical capital (for instance, housing and services) is accessed and sustained through engaging with state- or market-provided services.

Movement interventions and livelihood dynamics

The livelihoods framework allows a simple mapping of the ways and domains in which movements might engage with poverty. Three broad dimensions of such a mapping can be identified: livelihood outcomes, the factors determining access to resources, and the factors determining the productivity, sustainability and reproducibility of these resources. These dimensions are examined below.

In broadening the notion of livelihood outcome to include cultural and sociopolitical dimensions as well as material ones, the framework in figure 1 would suggest that poverty might be as much an issue of cultural exclusion and lack of capabilities as one of material wellbeing. This notion is similar to the idea that the negation of rights (to cultural recognition, to voice and to participation) is a form of poverty, and the enhancement of rights is central to moving out of poverty. This broadening is useful as, ex ante, in the light of the earlier discussion of the nature of movements, it is probable that at the level of outcomes movements are more likely to engage issues of identity, rights and exclusion as they are issues of material poverty. Indeed, as will be noted later, many movement leaders question the idea that their bases are poor (in the sense of "lacking" something), although they insist that they are subject to discrimination, exclusion and dispossession, and that this is what leads to the emergence of movements (Mitlin and Mogaladi 2009; Bebbington et al. 2008c).

The second dimension in which engagement might be anticipated is around questions of access to resources. In some instances movements might address issues of access through engaging in direct provision of assets. In practice this is likely to be on a modest scale (Bebbington 2007) as movements do not have many resources at their disposition. In most cases, one might anticipate that the only assets they might offer directly are certain forms of social capital and certain, more limited, forms of human capital (linked to the formation of leadership skills or certain forms of reflexive and critical knowledge such as human rights knowledge or environmental education). That said, collective consumption movements (discussed later) have engaged in more significant asset provision activities (of land, housing and microfinance). More likely is that movements might address issues of access by engaging the diverse institutional arrangements that affect people's ability to secure, enhance and/or protect their access to particular assets. In some cases this engagement will be in spheres typically thought of as those of production, and in other cases in spheres of collective consumption. In principle, one can imagine a range of engagements here: protesting loss of resources due to dispossession; negotiating land rights systems that favour excluded groups; contesting the introduction of cost recovery instruments in service provision; contesting gender or ethnic discrimination in labour markets or in access to public services; and so on.

The third dimension of possible engagement is around the transformation, productivity, sustainability and reproducibility of the resource bases on which livelihoods draw. Once again this dimension involves engaging institutional arrangements—formal and non-formal—that govern what people are able to do with the resources to which they have access. Some of these institutional arrangements will overlap with those related to access: for instance, the ways in which education and health care arrangements allow the reproduction and sustenance of

human capital. Others involve the ways in which market structures, public policy or political arrangements facilitate or hinder conversion of assets into livelihood outcomes.

Movements and state/market/civil society frameworks

Movement interventions and institutional domains

State/market/civil society frameworks are useful means for organizing a reflection of the institutional domains in which movements operate. In a simple sense, movements intervene from the domain of civil society, though as they do so they may intervene in state, market or civil society domains. For the purposes of analysis, the domain of the state can be understood to encompass the judicial and legal institutions, the public bureaucracy, legislative institutions and political parties. The domain of the market encompasses those institutions and arrangements through which commercial and economic transactions occur. Civil society can be understood here in its joint sense – both as the domain in which social groups organize and associate (see Putnam 1993) and as that in which ideological hegemony is established and contested. In practice, of course, the domains are inherently related to each other and in large measure cannot exist separately (see Platteau 1994a, 1994b). Thus institutional arrangements and dispositions in state and market depend on dominant ideas in society (as does, indeed, the very nature of the relationship between state and market); the ways in which markets function depends on how they are regulated by the state as well as on dominant ideas about how markets should work; state legislation and policies regulate the forms that associational life can take legally; and state and market actors are deeply involved in the definition and contestation of hegemonic ideas.

Some writing on social movements, and particularly that from post-structural and post-Marxist perspectives, has approached them in terms of this relationship with hegemony (see, for example, Mouffe and Laclau 1985; Alvarez et al. 1998). Here the argument is that movements have to be understood as phenomena that give visibility to meanings, ideas and values that are otherwise excluded or undervalued. They challenge existing sets of ideas and dominant meanings, and seek to replace them with others. They may seek to do this through negotiation, persuasion and reasoned communication, or through protest, confrontation and the open exercise of power. In such strategies they may act alone, or seek to build alliances with other actors – alliances that, while often requiring a certain watering down of their position (in order to accommodate the alliance) allows for greater political leverage (Mitlin and Bebbington 2006).

The larger point here is that the ideas that govern how society thinks about issues (in this case, poverty and livelihood) are causally related to the specific institutions that are put in place to act on these issues; and that the vectors for the rise of specific ideas can be understood as social movements. The ideas that are dominant at any one point in time are not those that are in some sense "right" and "true" but rather those that have become the most powerful. A similar argument has been made, albeit in quite different language, by Diane Stone (2000) who has traced how networks, arguments, bodies of writing and research centres were put in place worldwide, leading ultimately to establishing a way of thinking that became "neoliberalism" and positioning it so it became the dominant frame underlying social and economic policy. In a more specific sense, Arturo Escobar (1995) argued that a similar process underlay the emergence and rise to dominance of a poverty discourse that had the effect of labelling certain groups as poor and making them subject to particular types of policy (in his terms, regulation). More recently, similar processes have been identified as underlying the way in which a particular poverty agenda embodied above all in the United Nation's Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), also became a taken-for-granted assumption about what global public policy should address and why (Hulme and Shepherd 2003).

In terms of the three dimensions mapped out in the earlier section, this would mean that the most significant ways in which movements affect poverty are through:

- contesting the ideas that underlie how society understands poverty and the sorts of livelihood outcomes that should be valued in public policy;
- contesting the ideas and principles that underlie the institutional arrangements that govern people's access to resources, as well as the productivity and sustainability of these resources; and
- challenging, both in specific ways but also in terms of their foundational ideas, the institutions that govern these domains of access, transformation and sustainability. This would mean, just by way of example, that in the short term, movements may play the role of lobbying for a change in how land rights are given to extractive industries operating in indigenous territories, but in the long term they would challenge the ideas that underlie how society and the state understand the role of extractive industry in development, and the role of ethnic territory in the constitution of the nation. Or movements might first contest the specific provisions for cost recovery in basic social service provision, but more foundationally, would challenge the very idea of cost recovery in public services, and elaborate alternative principles on which services might be provided.

Movement strategies of intervention

As movements intervene in these domains, the strategies they use vary widely—from quiet antlike persistent negotiation and argumentation through to publicly visible and contentious direct action. Ballard et al. (2005:629; see also 2006) note "social movements' engagements with the state fall on a continuum between in-system collaborative interactions on the one extreme and out-of-system adversarial relations on the other", and much the same could be said for the range of movement interactions with business. There is not enough space here to explore all these strategies, but select examples can illuminate both the strategies and some of the issues that they raise.

Ideas can be contested through various means. Overt direct action can disrupt thinking about issues. The massive marches and mobilizations for territory and land that have occurred since 1990 in Bolivia, Ecuador and even Peru more recently have the effect of challenging dominant notions about the ways in which land should be titled if the goal is national development with both inclusion and well-being. However, these techniques do relatively little to elaborate clear alternative ideas, and far less ideas that have the potential to translate into policy. This requires a joint process in which strategic thinking capacity is developed (Mitlin and Bebbington 2006), both in-house and through linkages to NGOs and academic research centres. While the relationships involved (both between in-house intellectuals and bases, or between movement and NGOs/academics) are never easy, these relationships seem critical for the elaboration of alternatives that might ultimately have policy, political and technocratic traction. Examples here might include relations between the South African Homeless People's Federation and People's Dialogue in South Africa, or between the national confederation of communities affected by mines (Confederación Nacional de Comunidades del Perú Afectadas por la Minería/CONACAMI) and the NGO Cooperacción in Peru.

The projection of these counter-hegemonic ideas into the public sphere involves its own challenges. Again, direct action is one possible route, and the publications of supportive research centres might be another. Potentially more effective, but more difficult, are the routes that go through the media or through elected politicians. For instance, a national mapping of social movements in Peru (Bebbington et al. 2008c) concluded that only the human rights movement had been successful in engaging the national mass media (as opposed to alternative media). This had allowed its points to be made through the media, a process made possible both because of the significant social ties linking human rights leaders and certain journalists, as well as the nature of the issues addressed (while not denying that parts of the media have also been quite hostile). This in turn has had material poverty implications, because one outcome of the movement's activities for reparations for victims of the internal armed conflict has been the creation of national programmes of collective (and at some future date, it is hoped, individual) reparations.

Engaging politicians and political parties is a more thorny and debated issue within movements. In some cases, political parties have been created by or emerged from movement processes – examples here might be the Movimiento al Socialismo in Bolivia, or the Communist party in Kerala. In these instances, the projection of movement ideas to a far wider terrain with policy impact is more likely although, as discussed later for the case of Bolivia, it is not always straightforward either. At a local level one also finds movements creating electoral instruments (where electoral law allows this) through which movement leaders contest mayoral or similar positions, and often on an electoral platform closely linked to their movement's agenda. How far this legitimates the position and ideas of the movement is less clear, because such easy translations from movement to formal political process are just as likely to attract scepticism and criticism that movement leaders used the movement only to enter into formal politics.

Whatever the case, such instances are relatively rare, and the more usual scenario is one in which movements have to decide whether to ally with a political party or figure whose social bases, moreover, might be quite distinct from those of the movement. Again this might happen at both national levels or more locally.¹² Managing such relationships is, however, complex and there seem to be few examples where such conjunctural alliances lead ultimately to long-standing relationships. Such alliances seem far more likely to lead ultimately to the political instrumentalization of the movement. Perhaps for such reasons, some movements shy away from any clear allegiance with parties or politicians. This has been the position, for instance, of the National Slum Dwellers Federation (NSDF) in India—on the grounds that no party represents the needs of the poor and that therefore poor people's movements need to be free to negotiate with whoever is in power (Mitlin 2006; Appardurai 2001). The cost of this may be that the relationship with the political process is one oriented toward the negotiation of assets more than any projection into the public sphere (through political parties) of alternative views of poverty reduction, popular livelihoods and the poor.

Similar calculations are at play in those cases where movements eschew direct action or any particular effort to project counter-hegemonic ideas into the public sphere, and instead focus on negotiation and coordination with other actors (mostly state, but also business) in order to influence the rules of the game governing asset distribution, provision and productivity. The calculations that lead movements to such positions clearly depend on context: movements might anticipate that direct action will elicit repression, or may sequence activities, moving from direct action to negotiation – once the political space has opened up – in order to enter into debate on the specifics of state-led asset transfer and asset-building initiatives among the movement's bases. In other cases, they may simply calculate that the political context is one that offers the potential to access assets and/or shift the rules of the game through negotiating, and at times engaging in directly collaborative forms of co-production of services and public programmes.¹³ While in such initiatives social movements seek to engage the state on their own terms rather than those of the state, the poor have to offer something to state institutions to persuade them to support such activities. Above all, through their numbers and organization poor people can offer the state the chance to solve urban development problems that are otherwise unsolved. An example of this is the case of the Railway Slum Dwellers Federation in Mumbai (Patel et al. 2002), in which the federation was able to implement an enumeration scheme giving selected members secure tenure that then laid the base for a programme of resettlement entitlements, which in turn allowed more rapid improvement of transport services (see below).

It should be emphasized that such outcomes are exceptional and can only be achieved with explicit political pressure as well as a demonstrated ability for self-help. In the absence of such pressure, reformist, negotiating approaches can have costs. Reflecting in particular on the cases

¹² Lavelle et al. (2005:954) report that 33 per cent of neighbourhood associations in São Paulo supported specific political candidates during elections.

¹³ Mitlin 2008; see Ostrom (1996) and Evans (1996) on the idea of co-production.

of Chile and Brazil, Foweraker (2001) argues that the move toward negotiation and conciliation under conditions of neoliberal democracy has led to the taming of social movements. Much of this is a consequence, he argues, of the neoliberal context rather than negotiation per se; of particular importance is the fact that the livelihood crises triggered by neoliberalism have increasingly led movements that initially emerged around justice and citizenship issues to ask for specific handouts and programmes to help the poor cope with crisis. However, the very act of negotiation also seems to push in the same direction, leading movements and movement organizations to "lose their edge as defenders of the excluded and impoverished" (Foweraker 2001:861) and become negotiators for, and at times implementers of, specific programmes. "This does not mean that social movements and NGOs cannot achieve some positive impact on social policy or institutional reform, but it does indicate that their impact is unlikely to be fundamental" (Foweraker 2001:841). Broader enquiries into the roles of NGOs have come to similar conclusions (Hulme and Edwards 1997; Bebbington et al. 2008a).

Such strategies of engaging the state can bring a different type of risk, especially for the case of movements. This is the risk that engagement may ultimately lead to little or no change on the part of the state and in the institutions governing access to assets, and that this disappointment has the effect of radicalizing movements. This outcome can be a very real one, and progressive radicalization can lead to problems of governability at local and wider levels (Mitlin and Bebbington 2006). In a sense the challenge is similar to the Exit, Voice and Loyalty framework of Hirschman (1970). In the face of limited state responsiveness, radicalization and a refusal to engage any further reflects the exit option, while the decline into clientelism is a form of loyalty, but one which delivers no institutional change. The challenge is to ensure that movements continue to combine engagement and the exercise of voice, proposing innovations, changes and new pathways. Of course, movement bases will tolerate this option for only so long if the state continues to show little sign of responding.

Livelihoods and movement dynamics around poverty

Livelihoods frameworks are helpful not only for mapping out the different entry points through which movements might (consciously or not) engage with poverty dynamics. They are also helpful for reflecting on movements' own dynamics in this process, and in particular on the relationships between movements and their social bases.

The relationship between poverty and movements is not limited to the ways in which movements might affect livelihoods. All members of social movements themselves have livelihoods which are, as the livelihoods framework suggests, potentially complex. In addition, movements are themselves part of these livelihoods. On the input side, associations with movements constitute part of a person's social capital; and on the output side, people's social and political capabilities are influenced by the extent to which they compose livelihoods in ways that build links to movements. Several points can be derived from these simple observations.

First, while people might share broad identities (of class as defined by relations to means of production, of ethnicity, of gender and so on), their livelihoods are composed on the basis of a suite of assets. The relative significance of a particular asset (say, human capital relative to natural capital) might vary among members of this broad identity group. Similarly, the relative importance they pay to the different dimensions of livelihood (material income, capability and meaning) may also vary. These variations may mean that at a certain point of movement activity some households may become less inclined to continue their involvement than others. This is not a simple rational choice approach to understanding participation in movements. It is also an issue of identification with movements. At a certain point the cultural significance of education, say, for a person may mean that their identification with movements struggling for land and territory begins to wane.

Second, as part of livelihood, people balance the relative weight they give to social capital as opposed to other assets. The calculation of the role of these different assets in producing the mix of material well-being, capabilities and meaning that people aspire to will be both complex and in all likelihood as much unconscious as strategic. Whatever the case, within these calculations, the relevance of movement participation to a livelihood is likely to vary among people and over time.

Third, people's decisions to become involved in particular movements is likely to be affected by what is happening to their other assets and the institutional relationships that make them available, as well as what is happening to their ability to convert them into livelihood outcomes. For instance, in any given locality, people with livelihoods dependent on land are far more likely to mobilize when the expansion of the extractive industry leads to natural resource dispossession than are people with trade-oriented livelihoods. Conversely, people with livelihoods dependent on labour—such as those working on mine sites—are more likely to mobilize (but through union-based movements) when salaries and benefits are squeezed. Meanwhile people/households combining whose livelihoods depend both on agriculture and mine labour face more complex decisions.

Fourth, the implication of all the above is that there is likely to be considerably more variance in the livelihood composition of movement bases than is implied by the political positions that movements assume. As a result, holding movements together and sustaining momentum and visibility is a real and continuing challenge, as is finding movement positions that can resonate with a broad set of (actual and potential) member concerns, without becoming inchoate.

Fifth, and by implication, the level of activity within movements is likely to wax and wane over time, and at certain moments may become greatly reduced. One response to such moments is that the movements should simply disappear. Another, however, is that just because activity has waned, the significance of the issue around which mobilization occurred continues to be real, and there is a case to be made for sustaining the movement. Which response is the most legitimate will vary across cases. However, the implication of the second response is that there is a case to be made for continued support to certain social movement organizations and leaders during such periods, precisely because the latent social energy they embody is likely to be needed again in the future (see Hirschman 1984; Fox 1996). For this reason, notwithstanding criticisms often made of "NGOs who live off social organizations" or "leaders who keep going on and on simply to sustain their salary", there may be a case for sustaining certain movement-based livelihoods.

Social Movements and Poverty Reduction in the Sphere of Production

While production is essential for poverty reduction, increased production does not necessarily translate into reduced poverty—as discussions of the quality of growth make clear. Growth neither inevitably trickles down, nor does it necessarily dynamize the popular economy. Worse still, under certain circumstances—such as those highlighted by the resource curse literature¹⁴—increased production can also be associated with an aggravation of poverty.

Of the various channels linking production and poverty, perhaps the most significant are those that work via subsistence provisioning/livelihood security, employment and the generation of fiscal revenue for public investment (revenue that can then be redistributed through government spending). Each of these channels can be, and has been, a domain of social movement activity, even if in most instances this activity is driven by discourses other than ones grounded in the language of poverty. This section discusses the interactions between movements and poverty in the context of each of these channels. These channels are discussed

¹⁴ Humphreys et al. 2007; Bebbington et al. 2008b; Auty 1993.

as broad fields of mobilization, with cases from Peru and Bolivia used to ground the discussions of the first and third channels respectively.¹⁵

Movements and livelihood security

While the livelihood framework merges production and consumption in the same model, it remains the case that most applications emphasize questions of production, and do so assuming the household is the unit of production. In these conceptions, households combine their different assets to produce food, income and security. Such a livelihood system depends on continued access to these assets, as well as on an institutional and political economic environment that at least sustains, or better still increases, the productivity of these assets. Ipso facto, such livelihoods will become poorer if there is a decline in asset availability or quality relative to competitor units of production, or if the wider institutional environment changes. Such changes can happen incrementally or rapidly—with different implications for the potential role of movements in confronting poverty.

Movements and incremental decline in livelihood security

Incremental decline in livelihood security—often discussed as a steady, "simple reproduction squeeze" (Bernstein 1979; Watts 1983)—can occur because of progressive declines in asset quality as education and skills become slowly outmoded, as access to appropriate finance becomes progressively more difficult to secure, or as land and resources degrade. It can also occur because of a steady decline in asset availability, as average plot size declines, herd size diminishes, savings are drawn down and so on. It might also occur because of iterative changes in the institutional environment, as formal or informal tax burdens slowly increase, as import restrictions are slowly lifted (leading to increasing competition), as technical assistance services are slowly wound down, or as petty corruption steadily increases.

Each of these causes of impoverishment are potential domains of movement activity. However, the evidence is that in the face of incremental increases in disadvantage, movement emergence is less likely than under circumstances of rapid deterioration. The number of movements that emerge to address, for instance, progressive soil erosion, resource desiccation, water table decline, or increased travel to work time due to urban congestion, are few and far between. Furthermore, those that do emerge often have a strong dependence on organizations that either end up inducing and leading such movements or at the very least serve as catalysts to spark consciousness about the progressively serious nature of the reproduction squeeze. This does not necessarily mean such induced or "professionally led" movements have no effects on these sources of poverty. In the agricultural sector, for instance, the steady emergence of a (largely) professional, middle-class and NGO-led agroecology movement in Latin America ultimately laid important foundations for both the slow but sure change that has occurred in the basic and strategic research being done in the international agricultural research centres (toward more environmentally aware research), as well as for the rise of fairly traded organic products, which has become an important movement with significant livelihood effects. In a not dissimilar vein, the rise of microfinance institutions in the region has also been a professionally led phenomenon that with time took on movement-like characteristics. It ultimately changed not only conventional thinking about how financial services should be delivered, but also transformed the urban physiognomy of many larger Andean towns whose market squares and adjoining streets now have advertisements for these microfinance institutions. In each instance, however, these are movements in which activists are mostly middle class and professional. Poorer people tend to get involved at a much later stage, and even then mostly as clients or producers.

¹⁵ For more information on the research underlying these points, see the programmes: Territories, Conflicts and Development (www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/andes), and Social Movements and Poverty (www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/ socialmovements).

Movements and abrupt shifts in livelihood security: Cases from Peru

More movement activity is apparent around phenomena that lead to abrupt shifts in the security of livelihoods and associated threats of impoverishment. These shifts can occur because of a rapid loss of assets (or rapid increase in threats to asset security) due to, for instance, the arrival of new economic activities which can lead to asset dispossession or increased asset contamination (whether due to chemical pollutants that affect natural and human capital, or new incentives that affect existing forms of social capital). Threats of impoverishment can also occur because of rapid shifts in the institutional environment that brings actual or perceived threats to the viability of certain livelihood strategies. Examples of such institutional shifts might be the signing of free trade agreements, or changes in legislation governing land tenure and territorial rights. Indeed, in recent years in the Andean region, these two sources of shock to livelihood have been the most potent inducers of social movement activity – specifically around the expansion and behaviour of extractive industries, and around the negotiation of free trade agreements. The nature of this movement activity is illustrated with experiences around extractive industries and free trade and agriculture in Peru.

Extractive industry movements in Peru

Over the last 15 years, governments of Peru have increasingly tied their macroeconomic strategy to a rapid expansion of mineral, oil and gas extraction. As indicators of the scale of this expansion, between 2003 and 2007 the proportion of the Peruvian Amazon affected by hydrocarbon concessions increased from 14 per cent to over 70 per cent, and experts estimate that over half of the country's registered peasant communities are affected by mining, mostly by concessions for mineral exploration (de Echave 2007).

Several characteristics of this expansion merit note. First, it is made possible largely by international companies – while there are Peruvian companies involved, the bulk of investment is not national. This increase in transnational capital investment (large- and small-scale) has raised concerns among traditionally nationalist and anti-imperialist organizations and movements. Second, it has been facilitated by incentives that give tax and royalty holidays and contractual guarantees that taxes will not be increased. This raises concerns among similar groups that the country is unable to benefit from its subsoil and convert those assets into other resources that could be used for development and poverty reduction. Third, the expansion necessarily involves competition over natural resources in rural areas. Deposits and concessions are primarily located in areas of low-income peasantries and indigenous peoples who often manage their lands collectively and in some cases have also made claims for indigenous territorial rights. This raises concerns among rural people regarding the security of their livelihoods, the future of the land and water resources on which they depend, and their ability to exercise power over the spaces they have historically governed. Fourth, expansion introduces new (sometimes perceived) environmental risks – particularly risks regarding the future quality and quantity of water resources. In addition to raising rural concerns, this also raises some urban worries regarding the water on which the consumption side of urban livelihoods depends.

These rapid and multifaceted changes—"colonizations of the lifeworld" threatening potential impoverishment as a consequence of this particular form of production growth—have in turn induced new forms of organization and movement around extractive industries. These processes have occurred both locally (in areas where extractive industries are present) and nationally. At a national level, and for the case of mining, the formation of CONACAMI has been central to the emergence of the movement. Unlike miners' unions, CONACAMI is an organization that represents territories (peasant communities) within areas of mining influence. Its roots lie in a particular conflict between one peasant community (Vicco, Pasco) and a mining company (Vittor 2008). This conflict gave rise to forms of local leadership that, several years later, and through relationships with various NGOs and other sources of support, ended up leading the process that culminated in the creation of CONACAMI as a social organization that seeks to represent communities affected by mining at the national level. Since 1999,

CONACAMI has gained greater visibility in the country's mining conflicts. In a certain sense, its position has also become more radical with time and—above all—has incorporated increasingly indigenist discourses (Paredes 2006; Vittor 2009). This indigenization of discourse of a formerly peasant organization has its own explanation (an explanation in which certain international actors and Ecuadorian indigenous organizations also play a part) (Paredes 2006). Without commenting on the legitimacy of such a discourse, there is no doubt that it has helped to create ties with other national indigenous organizations, and to "territorialize" the argument against mining. It has also helped link these arguments around mining to other transnational processes, especially those around the Convention 169 of the International Labour Organization (ILO). The visibility, activism and growing radicalization of CONACAMI led to its "delisting" as an officially registered NGO by the government agency, Agencia Peruana de Cooperación Internacional (APCI), in 2005 as a result of pressure from other parts of the government and mining sector.¹⁶

While CONACAMI was a new organization, in the hydrocarbons sector the response has been led by existing indigenous peoples' organizations that come together under the umbrella of the Asociación Interétnica de Desarrollo de la Selva Peruana (AIDESEP), an association of lowland indigenous peoples. AIDESEP, however, has been rather less successful in forcing public debate on the livelihood implications of hydrocarbon expansion. In part this reflects the great difficulty of forging common platforms among ethnically diverse indigenous groups among whom communication (for reasons of distance) is immensely difficult. That said, when in 2008 the government attempted to pass legislation that would ease the sale of community lands to third parties (legislation designed particularly with the mining sector in mind), AIDESEP was able to mobilize an Amazonian strike that ultimately led the executive to retract and withdraw parts of this legislative proposal. In 2009 AIDESEP mobilized once again, on a more massive and sustained scale, in response to foot-dragging on the part of government and in a continued attempt to have parts of this legislation revoked. This mobilization culminated in a violent confrontation in the northeast of the country that left 33 people dead. While once again the response of government to this tragedy has been at best half-hearted, if not cynical, there is little doubt that it placed the issues of lowland indigenous peoples on the public agenda in ways that are unprecedented (Bebbington 2009).

Likewise, in certain local conflicts indigenous organizations have been able—again through the use of direct action combined with negotiation—to induce shifts in company behaviour. The most notable case here is the success (albeit after three decades of failure) on the part of indigenous federations in the northeast of the country to get Pluspetrol (an oil company) to reinject polluted water rather than release it into the river (leading to acute public and environmental health effects).

These movements, anchored in CONACAMI and AIDESEP but also involving a range of NGOs, researchers, religious groups and urban environmental defence fronts, suffer many weaknesses—in particular the ability to coordinate national agendas and local concerns. However, it is undeniable that they have made extractive industry and its links to poverty, the environment and indigenous peoples a topic of public and political debate in a way that would not have otherwise occurred. Techniques have often been confrontational and sometimes violent, and, as noted, this has induced clampdowns and repression. This is not the place to pass judgement on such techniques, though analytically at least it appears to be the case that neither government nor companies paid attention when direct action was not used. It also appears that the use of direct action has opened the political space within which other negotiations over policy have occurred, at both national and local levels (Bebbington et al. 2008b). These negotiations have addressed issues as distinct as participatory water monitoring, the environmental impact assessment process, the rules governing the geographical

¹⁶ Arguably this was largely a symbolic gesture with few practical implications and thus was not viewed as a "punishment" by CONACAMI or its allies—though at the time it generated considerable debate.

redistribution of tax income from extraction, and the financial contributions that companies should make to development.

While not all (perhaps none) of these negotiations have evolved exactly as movements hoped, they have nonetheless led to material changes. In certain cases they have allowed for slightly more protection for the asset bases of local populations—for instance, as a result of the introduction of water monitoring programmes around extractive industry sites, or of greater recognition of land rights. The negotiations also led to an increase in revenue transfers to mine-affected areas—in 2004 the government ruled that 50 per cent of the mining canon (taxes paid by mining companies to central government) would be returned to the regions of extraction. And it has also called into question on a national level the adequacy of existing public institutions for ensuring that production growth results in poverty reduction—as was made apparent by the prominence of this issue in debates surrounding the 2005/2006 presidential election campaigns. In each of these instances, however, it is important to note that these changes have come about because other actors (including from the industry), partly in the face of so much protest, have also come to support such ideas.

Agriculture and free trade in Peru¹⁷

What one might broadly refer to as an agrarian movement in Peru can trace its roots at least back to the 1960s (Bebbington et al. 2008c). This period saw mobilizations across the country that sought both to increase rural people's access to land, and to change the relationship between labour and land (with the emphasis varying, depending on the region). The target of these mobilizations was the concentration of property in large estates as well as the control of labour by estate owners (under various forms, some involving the granting of access to small parcels in return for labour contributions to the estate).¹⁸

While the causal pathways are of course more complex, in a general sense these mobilizations catalyzed land reform (this is also a pattern to be found throughout Latin America, even when reform policies have not necessarily taken the form that movements most desired). These reforms had the effect of increasing household access to land and household control over their own labour. However, land reform policy was also a vehicle for increasing the (then military nationalist) state's regulation of production and of the agrarian movement itself. In the productive sphere the state insisted on collective forms of agrarian enterprise while also creating a new national agrarian organization (the Confederación Nacional Agraria/CNA) to, among things, counterbalance the more radical tendencies of the existing national peasant confederation (the Confederación Campesina Peruana/CCP). Over the following decade (the 1970s), these collective enterprises encountered various management and organizational problems, while the vitality of the national agrarian movement declined. These trends became more acute in the 1980s as a combined effect of the violence of armed conflict within Peru, and the progressive privatization of property (an early neoliberal response to the stagnation of the collective enterprises). Conflict severely weakened both national and regional organizations, while privatization of land laid the basis for the emergence of new forms of non-traditional agriculture along the coast, as well as of a new sort of small- to medium-scale farmer emerging from the reform movement, but this time more oriented toward market and product specialization.

This emergence of small- and medium-scale market-oriented producers was to be the basis of a new agrarian movement that emerged during the later 1990s. This movement had several pillars: first, the progressive creation of product-based organizations (as opposed to broader "peasant movement organizations"); second, a shift in thinking among movement support organization (particularly NGOs) in which earlier discourses hinging around land reform and

¹⁷ This section draws on Burneo (2008), research conducted as part of the programme on Territories, Conflicts and Development in the Andes (www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/andes).

¹⁸ These general patterns—both in the control of land and labour, and in the social response to this—occurred across the Andean region and more widely in Latin America, albeit at different historical moments (Kay 2004).

peasant production were progressively replaced by a belief in the potential role that marketoriented, small- and medium-scale farming could play in inclusive rural development; and third, the creation of a national coordinating body (Convención Nacional de Agro Peruano/Conveagro) that brought together these different producer organizations, movement support organizations as well as what remained of the CCP and CNA.

While earlier periods of the agrarian movement had targeted issues of access and control over resources, Conveagro was a platform that focused on shifting discourses around small- and medium-scale farming and pressuring for policy and institutional arrangements that would increase the productivity (and to a lesser extent sustainability) of assets controlled by these farmers.¹⁹ The policy issue in which it has come to invest most effort has been Peru's negotiation of free trade agreements. How it has done this, and with what effects, has partly to be understood in terms of the history just outlined. While the case is one, ultimately, of a failure to influence policy, it is also one of success in changing the tone of debate and increasing the visibility of small agriculture in discussions of trade policy. By the same token the case reflects how movements can shift in time from focusing on political struggle to secure assets, toward discursive strategies to shift debates.

Peru's participation in free trade negotiations began in 1998 as part of the (ultimately aborted) effort to build a Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA, Área de Libre Comercio de las Américas/ALCA in Spanish). Both the CNA and CCP had been part of a larger platform that was completely opposed to the FTAA. Once the FTAA initiative failed, Peru began to negotiate a bilateral free trade agreement (FTA, Tratado de Libre Comercio/TLC in Spanish).²⁰ Conveagro assumed leadership (with Oxfam support) of advocacy around the agrarian elements of the FTA. This platform was, however, less categorical, lobbying instead for "Not this sort of FTA"²¹ as opposed to no free trade at all (which had been CCP's and CNA's FTAA campaign).

While Conveagro existed as a platform for the small/medium agrarian sector as a whole,²² specific actors led and fashioned the process of elaborating a strategy and position on the FTA. Of particular importance were a small group of leaders (all from coastal, product-based organizations) and a small (and young) technical team providing research to help Conveagro elaborate its positions and support them empirically. In the process a mixed strategy emerged of (i) direct engagement in negotiations with the government; (ii) participation in broader campaigns with other actors and movements (such as the labour movement); and (iii) mobilization of its own bases for occasional direct action.

In these negotiations, one of the greatest difficulties (that in some sense Conveagro did not surmount) was the diversity of positions among organizations existing within the platform. Two examples help illustrate the issue. Conveagro's technical team deemed it possible to negotiate differential liberalization processes on a product-by-product basis, affording more protection to some products than others during the process of liberalization. Indeed, it generated the information to try and make this case. However, politically it was not possible for leaders to make such distinctions in negotiations because of the demands from the bases of organizations whose products would not receive protection:

> there was a rigidity in the position assumed that limited room for manoeuvre in the negotiations. To say that 'no product should lose protection' was to go

¹⁹ While these issues resonate more with medium-scale market–oriented farmers rather than subsistence farmers, the issues arising are certainly relevant to peasant agriculture, as are free trade agreements more generally.

²⁰ This section draws on Burneo (2008), research conducted as part of the Territories, Conflicts and Development in the Andes programme at the University of Manchester.

²¹ "TLC: iAsi no!"

²² This raises that question, how far is a "small and medium" farmer organization related to poverty reduction? On the one hand, some sections of Conveagro feared that the FTA would lead to their progressive impoverishment as farmers would be unable to compete with cheaper imports. On the other hand, Conveagro's negotiations around the FTA attracted the attention and involvement of a range of other actors who believed that it would aggravate poverty in Peru, and so joined and supported this initiative.

into the negotiation without negotiating. As a result the other side [the government negotiating team] viewed this as showing the 'Conveagro does not want to negotiate'. We failed to elaborate a negotiation strategy. It would perhaps have been possible to negotiate an interesting compensation programme for cotton, for instance, but if the logic was 'don't touch my product', to cede any ground was not acceptable for the bases (Head of Conveagro's technical team, quoted in Burneo 2008:69–70).

Such constraints on Conveagro's ability to negotiate stemmed from livelihood differences among its members (represented through different product-based organizations). Geographic differences among organizations had a similar effect. While Conveagro as a whole, and its coastal members in particular, assumed a "Not this sort of FTA" position, the organizations whose bases were predominantly in the highlands were more militantly opposed to any sort of FTA at all. While those on the coast worried more about compensation mechanisms, highland organizations (such as the CCP) worried more about the implications of the FTA for control of territory, access to resources, and food sovereignty and security. Moreover, some of the department-level organizations in the highlands were motivated by anti-neoliberal and anti-imperialist sentiments, at times leading to mobilizations assuming a fairly clear position against any form of trade agreement. Indeed, the positions elaborated by Conveagro's technical team had little or no purchase (or even presence) in these regions. Meanwhile, the positions assumed by these more radical bases were again interpreted by the government and business community as reflecting complete intransigence on Conveagro's part. It was seen as a group with which the government could not negotiate.²³

In the final instance, the movement around the FTA in Peru achieved very little (Burneo 2008). It certainly remained marginalized from the main negotiating tables of the FTA, a consequence of deliberate government strategy as well as of the inability of movement leaders to develop the necessary political linkages to gain access. While their main success was in gaining concessions from the Ministry of Agriculture, the ministry was also ultimately marginal to the main negotiations. In fact, the lead negotiating team did not recognize any agreements made between the ministry and Conveagro. Another important factor in Conveagro's failure to affect any change in the FTA was that in the joint ALCA-TLC process, it was only late in the day that the movement began to elaborate alternative proposals. Furthermore, it had such a long trajectory of anti-FTA positions that by the time it began discussing the need for a *different* sort of FTA, negotiations had moved on too far, and the movement had generated too much of a negative image. And as a further constraint, the movement had limited capacity to imagine other, feasible trade arrangements that could compete with those elaborated by government and business actors. These capacity constraints were all the more apparent when its technical capacity was compared with that of the Peruvian negotiation team (not to mention the US team).

Yet notwithstanding all this, leaders in Conveagro interpret the FTA experience as a success. While they may not have changed the agreement, they had learned much about free trade negotiations, preparing them for the next round of negotiations between Peru and the European Union. And just as importantly, while at the beginning of the FTA process, small-scale agriculture had been a non-issue, more or less absent from public debate, the work of Conveagro and its bases had made it more visible, a subject of discussion in the press and public sphere. Whether this ultimately has an effect on poverty is of course another issue, but the simple recognition of the importance of small-scale agriculture in trade agreements is essential if any future negotiation is to benefit the sector.

Final comment

These movements share an important feature – namely that, though they emerged in response to relatively abrupt changes in livelihood systems, they emerged out of already existing

²³ A position expressed in interviews by Peru's lead negotiator.

movements and networks. Some of these were more local (for example, around environmental justice issues), some ethnic (indigenous peoples' organizations), some were peasant-based (the CCP), and some more farmer-based (Conveagro). None of these pre-existing movements had an explicit poverty agenda, and nor did they in their emergent forms as movements contest extractive industry expansion and free trade agreements. Their agendas were varied but all hinged around questions of identity, rights, political ideology, anti-imperialism and policy reforms. These prior forms and commitments underlie, it would seem, the strength of the new movement processes that emerge from them, but also ensure that these processes are inevitably framed in more political and ideological terms than in the language of poverty reduction.

Movements and employment

In the language of the framework outlined earlier, employment is an institutional arrangement through which a person is able to transform one or more of their own assets into outcomes that contribute to the satisfaction of one or more of their livelihood goals. Typically the asset involved is human capital, though other assets may also be relevant. Where households are employed on a contract basis to provide food, for instance, natural and physical capital (or land and technology) might be needed; and where a person is employed in order, say, to mobilize labour gangs, then social capital will also be needed. Potentially, movements might affect the employment route from production to poverty reduction under two broad scenarios: first, where employment relations are already established, and employees seek to enhance the poverty reduction effects of employment; second, where employment relations are not established, and movements demand that jobs be created. In the first of these instances, trade unions often serve as the mechanism articulating mobilizations, while in the second (a context in which unions would not yet have emerged) other types of organization and allies play this role. Indeed, even when unions are the main vehicles through which mobilization occurs, they often operate as the lead movement organization within a broader assemblage that can involve support NGOs, bodies linked to religious institutions and neighbourhood organizations all sharing concerns around equity and rights in employment relations.

Historically, labour and union movements have been some of the most powerful forces in enhancing and institutionalizing the poverty-reducing effects of production. In seeking improved work conditions, employment benefits and wages, they have increased the share of production that passes to labour, a process that has also involved the institutionalization of the mechanisms that allow this transfer in the form of the welfare state. Such gains have not been permanent, however, and the combined effect of movements over-egging their demands, global pressures on competitiveness and the success of a counter-movement arguing for more neoliberal readings of the relationship between capital, labour and social policy, has been to move the frontier between what the state does and what society has to do for itself, back toward society. Indeed, in this context it has been suggested that such movements are in terminal decline and as such are largely irrelevant to anti-poverty (or any other) policy agendas. At the same time, the increasing tertiarization of labour relations has reduced the scope for union formation and the emergence of labour movements. This tertiarization (coupled with the active discouragement of union organization) has characterized the organization of employment of the growth sectors in the Andean economies, and in particular export-oriented agriculture and new investment in mining and hydrocarbons (where the tendency has been to subcontract all manner of services, including labour recruitment). That said, the general confederations of trade unions still provide important platforms and points of reference for other unions, and are still able to mobilize their own and other bases.

Labour organizing is also still apparent on a sectoral basis. Some unions have been formed among women farmworkers on agro-industrial farms on the north coast of Peru, for instance, and in the mining sector in Peru and Chile there has an apparent re-vivification of some of the main labour unions, coupled with an ability on their part to engage in direct action and to mobilize their bases. While the extent to which this has impacted on poverty to date is unclear, it has placed the issue of tertiarization on the public and policy agenda. Indeed the use of third party companies and the absence of labour rights in the so-called "services" that extractive industries contract has become a topic of debate in the national press, and a certain amount of pressure has been placed on companies to engage in more direct recruitment. While it would be incorrect to suggest that this resurgence of labour movement activity has established a new set of dominant ideas about employment organization, it has at least helped make some topics increasingly visible, and has publicly challenged previous conventional ideas about the topic.

Interestingly, more movement activity has been apparent around the issue of job creation. One of the more contentious issues surrounding extractive industry expansion has been its limited direct employment effects, above all within the regions where extraction occurs. This is because modern extraction has substituted technology for labour – and furthermore, as a consequence of this, the labour required is of a skill level in very short supply in the zones of production. One study in Peru (CISEPA 2008) concluded that the main demand of populations living in mine-affected areas is precisely for jobs. This failure to create employment (and thus to open one of the main channels through which extractive industry growth might reduce poverty) has been grouped with other concerns regarding contamination, land acquisition (see above), transnational ownership, low taxes and mineral royalties, and poor corporate behaviour into broad movement platforms at both national and subnational levels.

This broad platform, distilled into an agenda of discontent about the ways in which modern mining is transforming rural economies and societies, has allowed the emergence of movements that have been able to mobilize broad bases, and to project their issues onto the national agenda. As noted above, these movements have shifted debates on extraction, development and poverty, and have induced some degree of change in some companies and parts of government. One area in which some companies have changed behaviour has been that of local employment generation. In various instances, companies have introduced schemes for rotating unskilled work opportunities for communities' neighbouring mines. While details vary, a general pattern is that community members are selected to work periods of two weeks, to then be replaced by other community members. Interviewees have suggested that while welcome, the amount of work made available is not sufficient to make a significant difference to their livelihood – as any one worker will work only several two-week periods over the year. Another constraint is that the capital-intensive nature of modern mining means that the mine itself will never generate that much direct employment. In response to this, some companies (generally the largest) have created programmes that seek to support the creation of local microenterprises as a means of creating alternative employment possibilities. Sometimes this may be coupled with training activities, with a view to increasing residents' employment prospects. Again, they do this as a response to pressure from local mobilization demanding more benefits from the mine.²⁴ At least for direct beneficiaries, these shifts might imply improvements in income dimensions of poverty. The corollary of this, however, is that in doing so it may diminish the proclivity of these beneficiaries to continue participating in movement activities-an effect that is presumably not lost on the companies either. This in turn might lead to a weakening of movements and to a reduced capacity to influence other channels linking extractive industry and livelihood-poverty dynamics.

Movements and public investment for poverty reduction: A Bolivian case

For certain productive sectors, and in particular the extractive industries, the most significant channel through which they can contribute to poverty reduction is through their tax and royalty payments to government. The extent to which these contributions are made in practice, and how they are then used, has become a particularly conflictive axis of social movement activity, and one which brings movements and states together. An extreme, but revealing, case of this has been that of Bolivia.

²⁴ An example of a mine that has responded in these different ways is Minera Yanacocha in Cajamarca, Peru.

This discussion focuses on the last decade in Bolivia, but to put it into context it is worth noting that the modern Bolivian state dates, arguably, to the revolution of 1952. Among the key actors in bringing the revolution to pass were the mine workers. As a consequence of the revolution, the mining sector was brought into national ownership partly for ideological reasons, partly to respond to the demands of mine workers (some of whose leaders became part of the state following the revolution), and partly as a source of revenue for the new revolutionary government.²⁵ Ultimately the model failed to meet all three purposes simultaneously, and the nationalized industry proved unable to sustain significant public investment.²⁶

Bolivia has, then, a history of movement consolidation around the extractive industry, and a certain blurring of boundaries between movement and state as a consequence of this. Something not dissimilar, though even more movement-based, has occurred since 2000. While it would be wrong to suggest that the emergence of the movement around natural gas extraction in the period served as the primary basis for the consolidation and subsequent election of the current governing party, the Movimiento al Socialismo (MAS), it is the case that this party emerged out of social movement processes (especially among coca producers and the more historically sindicalist highland peasant movements). These origins inevitably gave the movement/party a heavy anti-imperialist ideology, which in turn meant a clear resonance between these movement processes and the two major "resource wars" in Bolivia over the last decade (over water in 2000, and over gas between 2003 and 2005), each of which contested the control of strategic national interests by international companies. Not surprisingly then, within the first year of its election, MAS passed decrees to nationalize ownership of hydrocarbons and refineries.

While this legislation was partly ideological, it was also motivated by concerns for poverty reduction in that the government needed increased revenue to finance an expansion of various social protection instruments. This in itself is interesting in the sense that issues of social protection and targeted support to the elderly and to mothers only became an issue for the movement on becoming government. However, the need to fund these and further instruments generated other challenges, both with submovements within the broader base of MAS, as well as with movements (as opposed to parties) of the opposition. Tensions with movements that otherwise support MAS derive in considerable measure from the apparent urgency with which MAS feels the need to expand gas production-in order to maintain fiscal stability, fund expanded social programmes and also (for political reasons) diversify the geography of hydrocarbon extraction. Much of this expansion is set to occur on land occupied by and/or claimed as territory by lowland indigenous groups who-though not necessarily antihydrocarbons-worry about the environmental and territorial implications of this, as well as about the precedent that would be set in which a national (movement-based) government determines activities on lands that these regional movements argue ought to fall within their own sphere of control. Further compounding the tensions that this creates is the already existing sense among most lowland organizations and leaders that the highland indigenous groups who are dominant within MAS look down on them. Thus here we have a situation in which a movement-in-government's push to expand one form of production in order to enhance revenue for social investment (among other uses) is perceived as compromising the livelihood security and political autonomy of other groups within this larger movement. To date, given their overall support to MAS, lowland groups have not publicly criticized this situation, though it has certainly created tensions which in turn lead to a double risk-that groups will either begin to voice complaints, increasing fissures within the wider movement; or that, in order to offset this, the wider movement-in-government will attempt to co-opt lowland leaders.

The tension with movements of the opposition arises because MAS has sought to claw back some of the hydrocarbons revenues that are currently returned to the departments in which

²⁵ Myrna Santiago (2006) notes a similarly important role played by oil workers unions in the nationalization of Mexico's oil industry.

²⁶ And whatever contribution it did make is almost impossible to discern because public accounts do not allow for such disaggregation.

extraction occurs. This has catalysed renewed dynamism within far older separatist movements among non-indigenous (and politically conservative) populations in the lowland provinces who complain that this policy change is taking assets away from them. During 2008, movements harnessed this concern and were able to initiate civil obedience and direct action on a massive scale that for a short while called into question the viability of the MAS government. Ultimately the government survived and emerged strengthened, but the more general point is that one movement's efforts to use the instruments of government to increase the capture of resources for poverty reduction investments can – depending on where those resources come from – elicit responses from other movements resisting this.

Social Movements and Poverty Reduction in the Sphere of Collective Consumption

A further attraction of the livelihoods framework is that its attention to a range of assets highlights the important role that collective consumption can play in poverty reduction and livelihood enhancement. Assets such as human capital (which may be accessed, inter alia, through education and health services), natural capital (which may be accessed through water and sanitation or irrigation services), and physical capital (shelter, roads, electricity and so on) are each frequently made available through mechanisms of collective consumption. Even when the moment of use is individualized (as when visiting a doctor, or opening one's own irrigation gate), the asset provision service exists because a collectivity consumes it. Otherwise, neither political nor economic calculations would justify provision.

The provision of collectively consumed assets, however, occurs neither automatically nor according to a pre-defined set of rules. Provision to the poor can often be obstructed because of cost, bureaucratic inefficiency, political bias (in favour of non-poor groups) or capacity constraints on government. And even when provided, the impacts on poverty will depend on the rules governing provision (for example, payment for services) as well as on factors influencing how far households are able to take advantage of these services and turn them into desirable livelihood outcomes.

This sphere of collective consumption activity has, like production, witnessed significant movement activity. Indeed, the provision of collectively consumed assets has often only come into being because movements have demanded such services.²⁷ The dynamics of such demands differ somewhat from those exercised in the sphere of production. For instance, while contention around production often involves movements confronting business as much as the state, contention around collective consumption almost always involves conflicts between movements and the state.²⁸ Also, there seems to be more involvement on the part of movements in the direct provisioning of collective consumption assets than there is in the provision of income.

This section reviews elements of these experiences with a particular focus on the involvement of movements in shelter and services in urban environments, on the basis of material from India, Peru and South Africa. Some of these experiences also illuminate broader issues, such as the relationships between membership organizations and professionalized NGOs, the relationships between protest and proposal within movements, and the challenge of sustaining the autonomy of movements.

²⁷ While this paper does not talk about social protection measures, it is also the case that many of these are a response to movement demands. Historically in Europe, for instance, the origin of many such measures is to be found in organized contentious politics (Tilly 1985); and more recently, the origin of, for instance, unconditional cash transfer programmes in Brazil and South Africa is to be found in state response to (real or anticipated) pressures from social movements (Barrientos 2008).

²⁸ That said, movements may confront business in conflicts over the privatization of service provision, as for instance in the so-called Bolivian water wars in which water consumers protested the price increases that followed on from the transfer of water provision concessions to international companies (Perreault 2006).

The section first discusses asset provisioning activities in these movements, before considering the ways in which they engage government in relations of both contestation and negotiation. It then discusses the scale at which they operate and closes with a reflection on NGO-membership organization relationships within these movements. This discussion overlaps with the earlier one of relationships with government and the state, in that both are indicative of the challenges that movements face in gaining and sustaining their autonomy at the same time as sustaining relations with other actors. While these challenges of autonomy are just as real for movements contesting forms of production and accumulation, and are certainly not limited to collective consumption or urban movements, they are discussed here as several of the urban experiences, especially those of Shack/Slum Dwellers International (SDI), are especially useful in illuminating the issues and suggesting ways forward.

Demanding, proposing, facilitating: Movements and collective consumption

The domain of collective consumption covers the provision of assets, the rules that govern how they will be provided, and the conditions that determine how they can be used and converted into livelihood outcomes. In the case of shelter and services, assets might include land, housing, water and electricity supply, and neighbourhood security services; rules governing provision might include rules of entitlement, rules governing degrees of subsidy and cost-recovery in service provision, rules governing allocation of costs between government and community; and rules covering asset transformation might include rules regarding subletting, use of shelter for commercial activity and so on. The literature provides examples of movements working across all these domains.²⁹

If one were to distinguish (without overstating the case) between these and the movements discussed in the previous section, the differences of emphasis in movement strategy and practice might be the following: a greater proclivity toward self-provisioning of assets; a greater inclination to negotiate with the state and other holders of power; and somewhat less use of direct action except perhaps at the moment of initial land invasion. Another difference might be that such movements' discourses tend to hinge more around basic needs and less around ideology: with some exceptions (movements contesting service privatization and cost recovery), these are discourses containing less reflection on the overall development model. While in the words of a Kenyan member of SDI,

The people in Shack Dwellers International, in the leadership of the Federations and in the support organizations, are mainly people who are discontent. They are discontent with the current status quo. They are discontent or are very unhappy about evictions. They are people who feel very strongly that it is wrong for communities, whole families to live on the streets of Bombay or to live on the garbage dumps of Manila. They feel strong enough to do something about these things. But their discontent runs even deeper. They have looked around them, at the poverty eradication strategies of state institutions, private sector institutions, multi-laterals and other donors. They have looked at the NGOs and the social movements from which they have come and they are unhappy with most of what they see (Bolnick 2008:319–320).

These movements are more likely to be channelling discontent than other political discourses.

Asset provisioning

While over time, shelter and service movements often become more demand oriented, many have their origin in self-provisioning activities, often emerging from processes in which members sought to resolve problems for themselves. One variant of this is the mobilization to occupy vacant land – a process documented early on for the case of Lima by Mangin (1967), but also across South Asian and African cities. These are mobilizations to resolve a problem of

²⁹ See, for example, Mitlin and Mogaladi (2009); Mitlin and Satterthwaite (2004); Bolnick (2008); Barrig (2000, 2007); Castells (1983); Mitlin (2006); Patel and Mitlin (2002).
access to the basic input for shelter—a piece of land. Once the land is occupied, movements then begin to negotiate for tenure changes, and services—a process in which their orientation shifts from self-provisioning to contestation and negotiation.

Several particularly significant movements have made similar transitions. The member federations of SDI begin from savings and loans initiatives among vulnerable urban residents, generally women. SDI's approach is to identify pavement dwellers, homeless groups, scavengers and similar excluded groups, and initiate savings and loan programmes with them. Similar to dynamics encountered in village banking in Peru (Humphreys Bebbington and Gomez 2005), the practices and rituals surrounding saving and borrowing together have the (deliberate) effect of rebuilding trust among women (D'Cruz and Mitlin 2007). This trust is an essential ingredient for any future collective action around shelter-financial capital becomes a vehicle for producing social capital which, with time, facilitates subsequent empowerment and enhancement of income: "The formula is simple: without poor women joining together, there can be no savings: without savings there can be no federating; without federating, there is no way for the poor themselves to enact change in the arrangements that disempower them" (Appadurai 2001:33). D'Cruz and Mitlin (2007:224) note this same sequencing of concerns within SDI affiliates, from self-provision of financial services to shelter issues: "Despite appearances, the federations are not primarily vehicles to deliver low-income housing. Ongoing evictions and the scale of insecure tenure leads to the prioritisation of housing."

A very similar transition from self-provisioning to wider concerns about shelter is found within the Self-Employed Women's Association (SEWA) in India. Viewing itself as a movement more than an organization, SEWA counted 300,000 members across India by 2003 (Mitlin 2006). While primarily concerned with employment and income issues, SEWA has also engaged with housing issues. Housing is critical to its members, given that their homes are also often their workplaces or storage sites. Consequently, SEWA has become involved in slum-upgrading programmes, as for instance in Ahmedabad.

To some extent, examples such as these counter arguments that microfinance tends necessarily to be neoliberalizing in its effects (Fernando 2005). Rather, they suggest that, in urban environments at least, collective savings and loan interventions might serve as a basic infrastructure for the emergence of movement processes, even among the most destitute (Harriss-White 2005).

These cases also draw attention to an important gendered component to shelter movements, at least those among the most vulnerable. The national homeless peoples' federations that constitute SDI are primarily rooted in and led by women. The experience in urban Lima has been similar, with women leaders, and women's groups (initially created around other needs – in particular food provisioning) playing an important role in urban-based movements seeking support with services.³⁰

Demanding, contesting and negotiating

Tenure regulations, urban development plans, budget allocation for infrastructure investment, site and service provision, education and health services all involve government—either as direct provider or as regulator. Consequently, protesting and negotiating collective consumption necessarily requires that movements engage with government if members' needs are to be addressed. Furthermore, movements must engage governments that rarely have sufficient resources to meet all such demands, are often subject to pressures and incentives from other interest groups, and administer bureaucracies with their own Weberian imperative to regulate and control. It is a genuine challenge to engage such government-state machinery in a way that successfully resolves collective consumption demands while also protecting autonomy from political instrumentalization, bureaucratic absorption or simple corruption.

³⁰ Barrig 2007, 1991; Stokes 1995; Bebbington et al. 2008c.

When a government evidently lacks resources to respond adequately or completely to the sorts of collective consumption demands made by movements, strategies that hinge wholly around protest and confrontation imply real risk. More than the risk of repression (though real) is the risk of movement fatigue. If government is not in a position to respond to movement demands, to continue protesting without showing progress can ultimately lead to frustration and a tailing off of support from the bases. In such circumstances, the alternative option is to seek some form of collaboration with the government, and indeed, while collective consumption movements also contest rights, their strategies tend to be less confrontational than those of movements oriented around production.

Mitlin (2006) has suggested a framework for thinking about these interactions between urban movements and the state. She distinguishes among four types of state position—clientelist, bureaucratic, participatory democratic and co-productive—while noting that in most cases these different positions will be found co-existing across different offices of the same state and government (see Fox 1996, 2008). On the basis of this classification she approaches the risks to movements and the strategies open to them as they pursue their goals.

For Mitlin, clientelist government is the most difficult to engage successfully because it is a political culture that always seeks to trade some sort of collective consumption provision (or corruption) in return for political support. Such deals very easily undermine movement legitimacy and internal coherence. This has been, for instance, the case with the women's popular movement in Lima where one encounters different base groups sponsored by different parties, and which was greatly weakened by the clientelist practices of the Fujimori government in the 1990s.³¹ As a result of such risks and experiences, some movements, such as National Slum Dwellers Federation in India, has a strategy of working with whichever party is in power rather than being political clients of specific groups. While this might maintain autonomy, however, there are limits on what can be achieved in terms of outcomes. Mitlin also suggests that mass protest is often the best strategy in moments of clientelist politics because it is more likely to induce a response from politicians in the hope that this will deliver support. Whatever the case, clientelist government is less likely to deliver systematic solutions to movements' collective consumption demands.

In Mitlin's framework, a bureaucratic government works from recognition that rights constitute the basis for the provision of collective consumption services. Such a government might, in principle, take more systematic approaches to problem solving. It tends, however, to be less pervious to social movement pressure, or even to movement ideas and proposals. The worst case, and not infrequent, scenario is a bureaucratic government with scarce resources – a scenario that can lead to the provision of rules without solutions, and thus an environment that can be stultifying for movements.

The implication for movements is that in the face of a clientelist government or an underfunded bureaucracy, the most feasible strategy may be one of self-provisioning of assets, with occasional but partial gains following protests. This model, however, requires that movements are able to mobilize significant external resources in order to finance the collective consumption that their bases demand. For this to occur requires solid relations with NGOs (given the experience that donor support will not be forthcoming without these relationships) (Bolnick 2008).

Participatory democratic models of government offer movements many more possibilities through their structured participation in the definition of policy and programmes and in the allocation of budget. Various authors (such as Cabannes 2004; Abers 1998) suggest that as a result of such participation, more investment resources have been channelled to poorer urban

³¹ Barrig 2007, 2001; Blondet and Trivelli 2004; Bebbington et al. 2008c.

areas than would otherwise have been the case. Others, however, question how far the poorest are able to participate or make their voices heard in such processes (Cleaver 2005).

For Mitlin, as for many others, the most attractive state/government posture is that which favours the co-production of both collective consumption services (Ostrom 1996) and of the rules governing development processes (Fox 1996). In these visions, co-production is not merely the subdivision of tasks between government and movements, but rather a negotiation (one, interestingly, that to some extent bypasses formal democratic and participatory processes) in which the movement takes its own plan to government, and the different parties ultimately agree a programme of collective consumption service provision on the basis of this plan (whose implementation is then shared between movements and government).

Commentators who work within the SDI system insist that it is precisely this sort of relationship that SDI's affiliate federations have sought with their respective city governments, and with some success. It is one, however, which requires that the movement have particular capacities and strategic orientations. An example often given of such an experience is the strategy of the Railway Slum Dwellers Federation in Mumbai (D'Cruz and Mitlin 2007). By 1999, nearly 32,000 households were living in shacks next to the city's rail tracks. This slowed down trains, as well as created livelihood risks to dwellers. The city wanted to evict such dwellers. Rather than protest eviction, the federation and the city negotiated a programme for the voluntary relocation of dwellers. Land sites were identified, and the federation managed the resettlement process. It enumerated all dwellers, provided identity cards (to identify those families that were entitled to resettlement), and provided improved settlement units on the new sites. In the authors' words, "In this case and in other programmes, the objective is not to work out a way for the state to provide essential services albeit with the financial and organizational support of residents, but rather it is for the community to work out new ways of developing cities that are inclusive and then to secure state resources to enable the implementation of such solutions at scale" (D'Cruz and Mitlin 2007:236).

This is a model in which collectively consumed assets (land, services and tenure) are provided while the movement also retains autonomy. While it is a very particular case, the SDI experience seems to suggest paths along which other processes of urban social mobilization around collective consumption issues could also progress. It also shows that this can have demonstrable effects on reducing poverty. However, it is not clear how far the strategy can operate across all domains of contestation over urban collective consumption. It may be that the strategy can work when the issue at hand is to gain access to land, shelter, services or supportive forms of public investment. However, when the discrepancies are not only over the provision of livelihood assets, but also over the rules governing how they are provided, then coproduction may be more problematic. Why?

In very simple terms one can distinguish between two broad types of rules governing asset provision-the procedural and the substantive. Procedural rules refers to those that relate to how decisions about asset provision are taken. These rules might pertain to who participates in planning processes, decisions about the distribution of investments, the definition of what a new settlement might look like, and the implementation of the services necessary to establish that settlement. Here it is easier to see room for negotiation over rules, and thus for the possibility of coproducing rules. Substantive rules are different in that they govern how collective consumption services will be provided, who will be eligible for them, and how they will be sustained. I hypothesize that these rules are less negotiable, particularly when they are themselves specific manifestations of more general rules governing the economy of a country. An example here would be the rule that services should be paid for by consumers, rather than be considered a basic right to be funded by public budget. The very difficulty of negotiating this rule might help explain why it is that, although water and sanitation feature in the MDGs (partly as a result of pressures from movements), actual service provision reforms across the globe continue to emphasize corporatization and cost recovery, regardless of the impacts on low-income households (von Weizsäcker et al. 2005).

These substantive rules have been contested by urban movements – generally different movements from those that are able to enter into co-productive relations with the state. In South Africa, movements that contest payment for services are more likely to engage in direct action than are most other collective consumption movements. They engage in confrontation and in the reconnection of meters of households whose services have been cut off due to non-payment of rates. They also contest the introduction of prepaid supply arrangements which favour the provider. Unsurprisingly these movements often have more difficult relationships with the state (Mitlin and Mogaladi 2009). While Mitlin and Mogaladi (2009:29) conclude that, even so, "it appears that in the case of some providers and some local governments there is room for negotiation (for example, to delay and prevent families having their services cut off because of non-payment of bills)", this is still only negotiation at the margin. It is negotiation over the implementation of the rule, not the nature of the rule.

Learning and linking

A particular challenge for urban collective consumption movements relates to questions of scale. Because the services they demand are largely ones provided or regulated by city or municipal governments, these movements exist primarily at district and city levels. Their strong base in shared place-based identities also lends itself to this scale of organizing (Castells 1983; Sassen 2004). This is somewhat different from the cases noted in the previous section in which peasant and farmers organizations contested national trade policy, or CONACAMI contested the impacts of extractive industry and national mining policy on communities. The nature of these contestations elicits national level coordination and organization. For urban collective consumption this is not the case. This is ultimately a disadvantage for movements because it limits their ability to "jump levels" or to mobilize wider constituencies.

This same limitation is also apparent at higher levels. While several of the movements discussed in earlier sections are able to develop alliances with international actors on issues of trade, environment, human rights or indigeneity, this is far more difficult for collective consumption movements. In some sense, collective consumption issues have less of a transnational constituency—with the exception, perhaps, of access to drinking water. This makes it very difficult for them to engage in the sorts of transnational politics described so effectively by Keck and Sikkink (1998). To the extent that this transnational activism is one more instrument through which national and local movements can pursue their objectives, urban collective consumption movements are thus at a disadvantage compared to other movements. This may be one more factor in explaining their greater proclivity to use negotiation as a strategy. Movements with international allies can rely on them to intervene if they are severely repressed at the moment of engaging in direct action—urban collective consumption movements cannot.

One very important exception to this pattern has been, again, Shack/Slum Dwellers International. SDI emerged out of the experience of the NSDF in India in the 1970s. With time, and assisted by certain intermediaries, it established contact with similar processes in other countries. One of these led to the creation of a similar organization in South Africa, following an invitation made to NSDF in 1991 to visit an initiative to organize the poor in the informal settlements of South Africa. According to D'Cruz and Mitlin (2007:224),

[t]he Indians explained that at independence they had been promised a lot by their leaders; but the poor received nothing and were soon evicted by the newly elected government. The message from Jockin [Arputham, the founder of NSDF] was clear '...you need to do your own homework and organize yourself to make it easier for your government to deliver houses'. Shack dwellers in South Africa set up savings schemes and initiated regular exchanges between members. In 1994, the South African Homeless People's Federation was formed with 200 savings schemes. Two years later, in 1996, SDI was formed as an alliance by leaders from savings schemes in Cambodia, India, Namibia, Nepal, South Africa, Thailand and Zimbabwe. This alliance built on links that had been built over the years through international exchanges among federations. The idea was to create an international network that could support national initiatives. It has since grown and now has 15 members (Bolnick 2008), becoming an international point of reference on urban shelter, and a vehicle for continued exchange of lessons among its members.

The emergence of SDI owes a great deal to the support of certain international activists and donor organizations. However, compared to the variety of, say, transnational environmental networks that exist today, the number of similar structures for urban collective consumption is small. This is even more the case if this number is considered in relation to the global population of the urban poor.

The Autonomy Problem: Professional Organizations and Membership Organizations

One of the thorniest relational issues within social movements is the relationship between membership organizations and NGOs. Indeed, many movement leaders do not consider NGOs and professional sympathizers, even those with which they have a close relationship, to be part of the movement. Leaders of 10 movements in Peru were asked which organizations and actors were part of their movements. The following table summarizes their responses. Half of these movements considered professionals to exist outside the movement, which does not mean that professional do not play important roles. It does, however, indicate an awkward relationship that can often become a tense one.

Social movement	Part of the social movement?			Self-oriented/other
	Membership organizations	NGOs	Sympathizers	
Agrarian	Yes	Yes	Yes	Self
Coca producers	Yes	No	No	Self
Environmental	No	Yes	Yes	Other
Extractives	Yes	No	No	Self
Feminist	No	Yes	Yes	Other
Human rights	Yes	Yes	Yes	Other
Indigenous	Yes	No	No	Self
Unionist	Yes	No	No	Self
Regional	Yes	Yes	Yes	Self
Popular women's	Yes	No	No	Self

Table 1: Responses of leaders of movements in Peru on which actors are part of their movements

Source: Bebbington et al. 2008c.

Joel Bolnick (2008) of the Urban Resource Centre in Cape Town, South Africa, and one of four coordinators of SDI, has recently reflected on this relationship. He discusses how, over time, SDI has tried to manage it in order to sustain autonomy but also draw advantage from NGOs (see also d'Cruz and Mitlin 2007). As already discussed, SDI is an international federation of NGOs, based on country-level collaborations between national federations and NGOs. However, it has not always been so. SDI finds its origins in slum residents' struggles against evictions in Mumbai in the 1970s. These urban struggles led to the creation of the NSDF. In its early years NSDF interacted with a number of NGOs, but "persistent attempts at domination by the NGOs, coupled with strategic strangulation of resources, led NSDF to decide to break ties with all NGOs and to go it alone" (Bolnick 2008:324). This, however, was not a solution, and "a

decade of non-collaboration brought its own litany of problems" as donors declined direct funding to the federation, the government demanded more technical analyses than the federation could offer, internal accountability difficulties emerged, and so on (Bolnick 2008:324). Given these problems, NSDF decided it did need some sort of relationship with an NGO and in 1986 it began, and has evolved over the years, a close relationship with an NGO called Society for the Promotion of Area Research Centres (SPARC) (Patel and Mitlin 2002; D'Cruz and Mitlin 2007). NSDF's founder Jockin Arputham describes this relationship as follows: "The NGOs and the Social Movement—they take care of each other. Look out for each other. Make sure the money is spent in the right way. Make sure Government is willing to dialogue with us. I say SPARC is our washing machine, our *dobi*. It takes the community process and makes it clean" (Arputham, cited in Bolnick 2008:325).

This sort of relationship between federation and NGO has been copied and adapted in other countries within the SDI alliance. An important part of this relationship relates to the management of the urban development funds that federations seek to establish to finance investments once members have been able to secure land and services (Bolnick 2008). D'Cruz and Mitlin (2007:232), each of whom have close relations with SDI (but on the professional NGO side), describe the relationship as follows.

The role of the support NGO is to play a catalytic function to support the federations to claim their own economic, social and political rights. In general, the NGOs manage the finance and take on the administration, helping to create accountability between the two organizations. The NGOs are accountable to the national federation for financial decisions and other choices that affect the federation (and must avoid exercising control), whilst the members are responsible for the finance that they receive. This tension is healthy (despite being difficult). The support NGOs also bridge the gap between development professionals (especially those within the state) and the communities, and this role is extended internationally when dealing with staff in funding and other agencies. They may take the lead when negotiating if city officials are hostile and are not willing to talk to slum dwellers.

This is, perhaps, more of a typical representation of an ideal relationship than it is of actual relationships. Indeed, the types of tensions that emerged early on in NSDF's process have spilled over beyond India. A couple of partner federations do not have NGO counterparts, and in South Africa the relationship broke down because, according to analysis from the federation's side, the NGO sought to exercise too much control over fund management and decision making, and ultimately sought to divide the federation by fostering a parallel leadership endorsing the NGO's position (Bolnick 2008). Regardless of the veracity of this interpretation, the important points are that the relationship came to an end and that this led to the paralysis of federation activity (because of a freezing of the development fund). However, and this is also important, notwithstanding this negative experience, the federation still concluded (as they did in India) that it was necessary to collaborate with some sort of support organization in the way outlined by D'Cruz and Mitlin (see above). So, once again, the federation entered into a relationship with a different NGO. However, learning from the prior experience, the development fund has been established as a trust in the new relationship, rather than as a fund held by the NGO.

These SDI experiences have broader relevance. First, they show that a large, and now international, poor people's social movement sees NGOs as an important—and so far, essential—part of its infrastructure. Second, they suggest that even if this relationship is always tense, with a certain tendency on the NGO's part to dominate, this does not negate its importance. Third, they imply that the presence of NGOs within movements is not only desirable but is also a critical part of a process that has had significant impacts on poverty (SDI has a membership of 2 million women slum dwellers, and claims that 250,000 families have gained secure tenure and services as a result of the work of SDI affiliates). This final point is important. In an effort to delegitimize movements, critics often point to the activity of NGOs

within them as evidence of manipulation, of the movement not being genuine, and of political manoeuvring being more important than poverty reduction. The SDI experience suggests this is not a reasonable interpretation.³²

Conclusions

The relationship between social movements and poverty

Poverty research has said relatively little about social movements³³ and social movement research has said relatively little about poverty.³⁴ This is not surprising—it reflects the fact that most social movements say little, directly, about poverty, and very few social movements emerge on the basis of a poverty discourse. In this sense, the balance of the literature reflects the balance of the empirical situation. Movements rarely take on the mantle of "being poor" as an identity-based grievance with which to negotiate, and many movement leaders interviewed in my research (together with research collaborators) do not want to think of themselves or their bases in this way (Bebbington et al. 2008c; Mitlin and Mogaladi 2009). Instead they think of their bases as people who have been denied or excluded from something, or who are being treated unjustly and inequitably either by particular actions or by institutions and policies that in their view discriminate unfairly against them.

This does not mean that movements are irrelevant to poverty—it does imply, though, that to bring the two themes together requires a particular framing of poverty (as more than incomebased), of the causes of poverty (as rooted, ultimately, in relationships of power), and of policy (as determined, ultimately, by political processes in which movements are one of many actors). This paper has aimed to do this through combining livelihoods frameworks and a simple state/civil society/market framework. Livelihoods frameworks help think about poverty in terms of material well-being, power and meaning/cultural identity, and approach the causes of poverty in terms of access to and control over assets and the institutional and policy arrangements that structure people's possibilities. The state-market-civil society frameworks help frame the policies and institutions within livelihoods frameworks as products of the interactions and power relationships determine the dominant discourses which shape livelihoods and policy in a more general sense. This combined framework then helps map the different points at which movements might interact with poverty dynamics. In some sense, it makes social movements and power relationships endogenous to livelihoods and poverty.

As thinking on the place of social movements in poverty dynamics and poverty reduction unfolds, it will be essential to avoid an error that was made in discussions of NGOs, poverty and development. This mistake was that debates on, and policy appropriations of, NGOs treated them as a sort of institutional default phenomenon that existed because other more "real" and significant institutions either did not exist or were not strong enough ("yet"). Analytically NGOs were ultimately viewed as transitional organizations (existing until stronger states and markets emerged), and in policy terms they were seen as gap fillers and service providers, playing roles that market and state did not (yet) provide. They were not seen as an institutional reflection of tendencies in society that might exist whatever the capacity of the state and the social responsibility of the market.

The risk is that social movements might be viewed the same way—as phenomena whose existence reflects weaknesses in political parties and which therefore should be viewed as transitional and of secondary importance. This would be an error. That movements continue to

³² Cases such as the social movement around mining in Peru would be another example.

³³ This is changing, however. For recent statements, see CPRC (2008).

³⁴ For reference to some exceptions, see discussion in Bebbington (2007).

exist in OECD societies with consolidated states and parties, strong institutions and even advanced social democracies, suggest that movements do not solely exist as default manifestations of weaknesses in state and party. Rather, they have to be taken as important social phenomena on their own grounds—they are a part of society. Their existence is a reflection of unresolved arguments within society as well as within its institutions, and a reflection of grievances under existing social arrangements.

That said, while movements must be understood on their own terms, they do not exist in isolation – rather they exist, and pursue their goals, in relation to other parts of society and the state, sometimes in relations of tension and conflict, sometimes of negotiation, and sometimes of alliance (Ballard et al. 2006). The relations with other actors are more likely to be characterized by conflict and tension when movements engage issues in the domain of production than when they pursue goals in the domains of collective consumption. The distinction, however, cannot be pushed too far: the water wars in Bolivia, and even some of the arguments over water pricing in South Africa, show that movement-state interactions can also be quite tense and conflictive when issues of collective consumption are at stake; nor is all movement activity around production conflictive. Perhaps the more general point is that conflict is more likely when movements contest the underlying ordering of economy and society. While such questioning is more likely to occur in the domain of production, it can also occur around collective consumption. Indeed in the Bolivian water wars, the conflict was as much about the increasing dominance of an economy based on concessions to international interests as it was about water per se, and government's initial refusal to listen to popular complaints reflected its reluctance to call into question an economic arrangement (the stability of contracts with international companies) whose sanctity was deemed of central importance to the economy (Perreault 2006).

On movement strategy

The countries referred to most frequently in this paper vary in terms of their political context and institutions. South Africa is an instance of a still emerging (post-apartheid) democracy that happens also to be relatively wealthy. This wealth, coupled with the ideological predisposition of government, has translated into efforts to build a developmental state with strong welfare programmes. Bolivia is a case of a state controlled by a government sharing some of the ideological predispositions of the African National Congress (ANC), but with more of a populist-socialist agenda. At the same time, while there is much potential for natural resourcebased wealth, this has still to be realized. In both Bolivia and South Africa, the governing party had a strong movement base and has had to deal with conservative movement responses.

Peru and India are quite different contexts. Peru affords another case of a relatively new democracy, with a government committed to neoliberal economic management in the presence of resource rents that are also significant. Meanwhile India is a consolidated democracy, also with a growing economy but one that is much more diversified than any of the other three countries, and which is therefore characterized by particular strong middle and bureaucratic classes.

This raises the question as to whether the diverse movement strategies (running from confrontation to coproduction) noted in the paper might reflect, in part, responses to distinct political contexts. Indeed, it is perhaps not surprising that movement strategies in Bolivia and South Africa are less confrontational. There is an awareness of what could be lost, politically, if confrontation were to become too intense, and at the same time there are important normative convergences between movements and government. In these circumstances, the state has an upper hand and is more able to define the terrain on which movements might negotiate with the state. Even when movements have fractured, with some parts assuming more critical postures on government policy, this critique has been relatively muted, and there is unwillingness to call the government's economic model too profoundly into question (as this would cede too much ground to conservative movements). In such contexts, it is not surprising

that negotiations are focused around issues that lie at the margin of the macroeconomic model, and are instead related to collective consumption and social policy more than to production relations.

Peru is at the other extreme—a context in which movements identify very little with government, and have very little presence within it. Here there is less to lose through being confrontational, at the same time as there are far more issues related to the organization of the economy and society on which movements and government disagree, often profoundly. Furthermore the government, has, for ideological and political reasons, not converted burgeoning natural resource rents into significant social policy and poverty reduction instruments. Instead, economic policy is its main instrument of poverty reduction. It seems therefore unsurprising that movement-state interactions are characterized more by recurring cycles of conflict, and focused more on production than consumption.

The Indian case is different again, though perhaps closest to the South African in the sense that the state is, in relative terms at least, bureaucratically strong and broadly legitimate. In a far more diversified economy it is less easy for movements to fall into quickly and easily defined oppositional stances vis-à-vis the organization of production. Meanwhile, in the presence of a state with clear institutional capacities, there is potentially more to be gained through negotiated and co-productive strategies.

The implication is that the roles of movements in poverty reduction will vary significantly depending on the political regime of the moment—and that context defines both the most likely, as well as the potentially most productive, strategy for movements to assume.

On production and collective consumption

Both movement emergence as well as the relative balance of movement activity between production and collective consumption varies over time and according to the political economy of the country. Contemporary movement dynamics-both for the sector as a whole as well as for the movements that have been discussed in more detail-reflect histories of state-society interaction, of perceptions of the state, development and political parties, and of the formation of individuals who subsequently emerge as leaders, influenced by the culture that their own histories lead them to carry with them. The aspirations and visions of the future that lead movements to frame demands about housing (South Africa) or the extractive industry (Peru), are likewise embedded in histories: of white suburbanization in South Africa, and of appalling environmental and social performance by pre-1990s extractive industry in Peru. Modern history also has much to do with movement emergence around particular issues. This helps explain why movements in Peru have been far more active around production while those in South Africa have been more active around collective consumption. Peru's government has encouraged a rapid expansion of the extractive economy in the absence of institutions to deal with the distributional conflicts that this elicits. While it has done this partly on the grounds (or at least with the rhetoric) that extractive industry-led growth is essential for poverty reduction because of the employment and taxes it will generate, movements have nonetheless emerged to challenge what they perceive as unjust distribution of the associated costs and benefits of extraction. Meanwhile, in South Africa the post-apartheid state has intervened heavily in areas of collective consumption (housing, services, water and so on) as part of its own approach to social investment and poverty reduction. Here again government strategy has led to activity on the part of movements. Mitlin and Mogaladi (2009) argue that this level of state activity in these domains legitimizes housing and service provision as spaces that can be negotiated and contested, and movements have taken up the challenge.

Not all social movement activity happens in response to state policy. Indeed, movements have often been proactive in placing issues on the political agenda: issues such as gender relations, civil rights, ethnicity and racism. However, at least in the domains of poverty and economic policy, the sense is that movements might be more reactive to existing policy regimes than they are proactive sources of policy propositions. If this is the case, then the extent to which movement are concerned about addressing the sources of poverty will depend to a considerable extent on how far state policy is also doing so. In this sense, in those cases where movements emphasize collective consumption as opposed to production, then serious issues for poverty reduction arise. To quote Mitlin and Mogaladi (2009:43):

The pattern of movement activity is, arguably, opportune for capital. The South African state has shifted the arena of protest for the low-paid, disadvantaged and otherwise excluded away from the labour market and the productive sphere to the sphere of collective consumption. Movements do not appear to make any significant challenges to capital or to the state over the way in which they are regulating the wider economy and/or the behaviour of particular corporations. The programmes of collective consumption are important in adding to the incomes of low-income households and there are real gains to be secured. However, employment income remains important in determining household well-being and it is difficult to imagine that poverty and inequality can be addressed without significant changes to the distribution of employment-related income.

Historical analogy would support this contention insofar as poverty reduction has hinged around the establishment of taxation systems that redistribute from profits and wages to public investment in services; long-term increases in real wages; and a broadening of access to entitlements that come with participation in the formal economy. How far movement activities have contributed to such changes in the OECD countries is a topic for a quite different paper, though there is reason to argue that the emergence of labour movements and civil rights movements have played important roles.

This brings us to a final observation. Not all institutions of the welfare state are born from the actions of movements, but many have at least some relationship to the mobilization and negotiation conducted by broad-based social organizations existing outside the state and political parties.³⁵ Indeed, one of the most important effects of movements (when they are "successful") is to induce the creation of new public institutions that contribute to poverty reduction and favour a certain evening out of power relationships in society. In this sense, just as social movements are endogenous to livelihood, so they are also to state formation. Understood this way, there is little choice but to recognize their importance for poverty reduction.

³⁵ Though, of course, some of these later gave rise to political parties that subsequently became government: for instance, the Labour party in the United Kingdom, Partido dos Trabalhadores (PT) in Brazil and MAS in Bolivia.

Bibliography

- Abers, R. 1998. "Learning through democratic practice: Distributing government resources through popular participation in Porto Alegre." In J. Friedmann and M. Douglass (eds.), *Cities for Citizens*. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester.
- Alvarez, S., E. Dagnino and A. Escobar (eds.). 1998. Cultures of Politics, Politics of Cultures: Re-Visioning Latin American Social Movements. Westview, Boulder, CO.
- Andrews, K. 2001. "Social movements and policy implementation: The Mississippi civil rights movement and the war on poverty, 1965–1971." *American Sociological Review*, Vol. 66, No. 1, pp. 71–95.
- Appadurai, A. 2004. "The capacity to aspire: Culture and the terms of recognition." In V. Rao and M. Walton (eds.), *Culture and Public Action: A Cross-Disciplinary Dialogue on Development Policy.* Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, CA.
- ——. 2001. "Deep democracy: Urban governmentality and the horizon of politics." *Environment and Urbanization*, Vol. 13, No. 2, pp. 23–43.
- Auty, R. 1993. *Sustaining Development in Mineral Economies: The Resource Curse Thesis.* Routledge, London.
- Ballard, R., A. Habib and I. Valodia (eds.). 2006. *Voices of Protest: Social Movements in Post-Apatheid South Africa*. University of KwaZulu Press, Scottsville.
- Ballard, R., A. Habib, I. Valodia and L. Zuern. 2005. "Globalization, marginalization and contemporary social movements in South Africa." *African Affairs*, Vol. 104, No. 417, pp. 615–634.
- Barrientos, A. 2008. "Cash transfers for older people reduce poverty and inequality." In A. Bebbington,
 A. Dani, A de Haan and M. Walton (eds.), *Institutional Pathways to Equity: Addressing Inequality Traps.* World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Barrig, Maruja. 2007. "Movimiento de mujeres y avances normativas." In Carmen de la Cruz and Maruja Barrig, *El Financiamiento para la Igualdad de Género y la Nueva "Arquitectura de la Ayuda": Los Casos de Guatemala y Perú.* Fundación Carolina, Madrid.
- ——. 2000. La Persistencia de la Memoria: Feminismo y Estado en el Perú de los 90. Cuadernos de Investigación Social, No. 15. Departamento de Ciencias Sociales, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú, Lima.
- —. 1991. "Women and development in Peru: Old models, new actors." Environment and Urbanization, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 66–70.
- Bebbington, A. 2009. "The new extraction? Rewriting the political ecology of the Andes?" *NACLA Report on the Americas*, Vol. 42, No. 5, September/October, pp. 12–20.
- ——. 2007. "Social movements and the politicization of chronic poverty." *Development and Change*, Vol. 38, No. 5, pp. 793–818.
- ——. 2004. "Livelihood transitions, place transformations: Grounding globalization and modernity." In R. Gwynne and C. Kay (eds.), *Latin America Transformed: Globalization and Modernity* (second edition). Arnold, London.
- ——. 1999. "Capitals and capabilities: A framework for analyzing peasant viability, rural livelihoods and poverty." World Development, Vol. 27, No. 12, pp. 2021–2044.
- ——. 1997. "Social capital and rural intensification: Local organizations and islands of sustainability in the rural Andes." *Geographical Journal*, Vol. 163, No. 2, pp. 189–197.
- Bebbington, A., S. Hickey and D. Mitlin (eds.). 2008a. Can NGOs Make A Difference? The Challenge of Development Alternatives. Zed Books, London.
- Bebbington, A., L. Hinojosa, D. Humphreys Bebbington, M.L. Burneo and X. Warnaars. 2008b. "Contention and ambiguity: Mining and the possibilities of development." *Development and Change*, Vol. 39, No. 6, pp. 887–914.
- Bebbington, A., M. Scurrah and C. Bielich. 2008c. *Mapeo de Movimientos Sociales en el Perú Actual*. Centro Peruano de Estudios Sociales, Lima.
- Bebbington, A. and S. Hickey. 2006. "NGOs and civil society." In D.A. Clark (ed.), *The Elgar Companion to Development Studies.* Edward Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Bernstein, H. 1979. "African peasantries: A theoretical framework." *Journal of Peasant Studies*, Vol. 6, No. 4, pp. 420–444.
- Blondet, Cecilia and Carolina Trivelli. 2004. *Cucharas en Alto: Del Asistencialismo al Desarrollo Local: Fortaleciendo la Participación de las Mujeres.* Instituto de Estudios Peruanos, Lima.

UNRISD PROGRAMME ON **CIVIL SOCIETY AND SOCIAL MOVEMENTS** PAPER NUMBER 32

- Bolnick, J. 2008. "Development as reform and counter-reform: Paths travelled by Slum/Shack Dwellers International." In A. Bebbington, S. Hickey and D. Mitlin (eds.), Can NGOs Make A Difference? The Challenge of Development Alternatives. Zed Books, London.
- Burneo, M-L. 2008. "La movilización de los agricultores frente al TLC Perú-Estados Unidos: Hipótesis para la discusión." *Debate Agrario*, Vol. 43, pp. 61–87.
- Cabannes, Y. 2004. "Participatory budgeting: A significant contribution to participatory democracy." Environment and Urbanization, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 27–46.
- Carney, D. (ed.). 1998. *Sustainable Rural Livelihooods. What Contribution Can We Make?* Department for International Development, London.
- Castells, M. 1983. *The City and the Grassroots: A Cross-Cultural Theory of Urban Social Movements.* Edward Arnold, London.
- CISEPA (Centro de Investigaciones Sociológicas, Económicas, Políticas y Antropológicas, Catholic University of Peru). 2008. *Investigación Evaluativa del Programa de Industrias Extractivas SAMRO*. Mimeo. Oxfam America, Lima.
- Clark, J. 1991. Democratizing Development. Earthscan, London.
- Cleaver, F. 2005. "The inequality of social capital and the reproduction of chronic poverty." *World Development*, Vol. 33, No. 6, pp. 893–906.
- CPRC (Chronic Poverty Research Centre). 2008. *Chronic Poverty Report 2008–09: Escaping Poverty Traps.* Chronic Poverty Research Centre, Manchester.
- ------. 2004. Chronic Poverty Report 2004. Chronic Poverty Research Centre, Manchester.

Crossley, N. 2002. Making Sense of Social Movements. Open University Press, Buckingham.

- D'Cruz, C. and D. Mitlin. 2007. "Shack/Slum Dwellers International: One experience of the contribution of membership organizations to pro-poor urban development." In R. Kanbur, M. Chen, R. Jhabvala and C. Richards (eds.), *Membership-Based Organizations of the Poor*. Routledge, Abingdon.
- de Echave, J. 2007. *La minería en el Perú: Entre la transformación de los conflictos y el desafío programático.* Presentation at the Territories, Conflicts and Development Seminar, Manchester, 22 October.

www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/andes/seminars/Jose_de_Echave_Spanish.pdf, accessed in May 2009.

- Edelman, M. 1999. *Peasants against Globalization: Rural Social Movements in Costa Rica*. Stanford University Press, Palo Alto, CA.
- Edwards, M. and D. Hulme (eds.). 1995. *NGOs: Performance and Accountability: Beyond the Magic Bullet*. Earthscan, London.
- —— (eds.). 1992. Making a Difference? NGOs and Development in a Changing World. Earthscan/Save the Children, London.
- Escobar, A. 1995. *Encountering Development. The Making and Unmaking of the Third World*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Escobar, A. and S. Alvarez (eds.). 1992. *The Making of Social Movements in Latin America: Identity, Strategy and Democracy.* Westview Press, Boulder, CO.
- Evans, P. (ed.). 1996. *State-Society Synergy: Government and Social Capital in Development.* Institute for International Studies, Berkeley, CA.
- Farrington, J. and A. Bebbington. 1993. *Reluctant Partners: NGOs, the State and Sustainable Agricultural Development*. Routledge, London.
- Fernando, J. (ed.). 2005. *Microfinance: Perils and Prospects*. Routledge, London.
- Foweraker, J. 2001. "Grassroots movements and political activism in Latin America: A critical comparison of Chile and Brazil." *Journal of Latin American Studies*, Vol. 33, pp. 839–867.
- Fox, J. 2008. Accountability Politics: Power and Voice in Rural Mexico. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- ——. 1996. "How does civil society thicken? The political construction of social capital in Mexico." World Development, Vol. 24, No. 6, pp. 1089–1103.
- Habermas, J. 1987. *The Theory of Communicative Action (Vol. 2): System and Lifeworld*. Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Harriss-White, B. 2005. "Destitution and the poverty of its politics—With special reference to South Asia." *World Development*, Vol. 33, No. 6, pp. 881–891.
- Harvey, D. 2003. *The New Imperialism.* Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Hirschmann, A. 1984. Getting Ahead Collectively. Pergamon, New York.

- ——. 1970. Exit, Voice, and Loyalty: Responses to Decline in Firms, Organizations, and States. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Howell, J. and J. Pearce. 2001. *Civil Society and Development: A Critical Exploration*. Lynne Reinner, Boulder, CO.
- Hulme, D. and M. Edwards (eds.). 1997. *Too Close for Comfort: NGOs, States and Donors*. Macmillan, Oxford.
- Hulme, D. and A. Shepherd. 2003. "Chronic poverty and development policy: An introduction." *World Development*, Vol. 31, No. 3, pp. 399–402.
- Humphreys, M., J. Sachs and J. Stiglitz. 2007. *Escaping the Resource Curse*. Initiative for Policy Dialogue, Columbia University Press, New York.
- Humphreys Bebbington, D. and A Gomez. 2005. "Rebuilding social capital in post-conflict regions: Women's village banking in Ayacucho, Peru and in Highland Guatemala." In J. Fernando (ed.), *Microfinance: Perils and Prospects*. Routledge, London.
- Kay, C. 2004. "Rural livelihoods and peasant futures in Latin America." In R. Gwynne and C. Kay (eds.), Latin America Transformed. Globalization and Modernity (second edition). Hodder Arnold, London.
- Keck, M. and K. Sikkink. 1998. Activists Beyond Borders: Advocacy Networks in International Politics. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY.
- Lavelle, A.G., A. Acharya and P.P. Houtzager. 2005. "Beyond comparative anecdotalism: Lessons on civil society and participation from São Paulo, Brazil." *World Development*, Vol. 33, No. 6, pp. 951–964.
- Lewis, D. 2002. "Civil society in African contexts: Reflections on the 'usefulness' of a concept." Development and Change, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 569–586.

------. (ed.). 2001. The Management of Nongovernmental Organizations. Routledge, London.

- Mangin, W. 1967. "Latin American squatter settlements: A problem and a solution." Latin American Research Review, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 65–98.
- McAdam, D., J. McCarthy and M. Zald. 1988. "Social movements." In N. Smelser (ed.), *Handbook of Sociology*. Sage, London.
- McAdam, D., S. Tarrow and C. Tilly. 2001 *Dynamics of Contention*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- McCarthy, J. and M. Zald. 1977. "Resource mobilization and social movements." American Journal of Sociology, Vol. 82, No. 6, pp. 1212–1241.
- Mitlin, D. 2008. "With and beyond the state: Coproduction as a route to political influence, power and transformation for grassroots organizations." *Environment and Urbanization*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 339–360.
 - 2006. Social Movements and Urban Chronic Poverty. CPRC Working Paper 64. Chronic Poverty Research Centre, Manchester.
- Mitlin, D. and A. Bebbington. 2006. *Social Movements and Chronic Poverty across the Urban-Rural Divide: Concepts and Experiences.* CPRC Working Paper, No. 65 and Background Paper for Chronic Poverty Report 2 (2008). Chronic Poverty Research Centre, Manchester.
- Mitlin, D. and J. Mogaladi. 2009. *Social Movements and Poverty Reduction in South Africa*. PLAS/University of Manchester, Cape Town. www.sed.manchester.ac.uk/research/socialmovements/publications/reports/ Mitlin_Mogaladi_SouthAfricamappinganalysis.pdf, accessed in May 2009.
- Mitlin, D and D. Satterthwaite. 2004. Squatter Citizen. Earthscan, London.
- Moser, C. 1998. "The asset vulnerability framework: Reassessing urban poverty reduction strategies." *World Development*, Vol. 26, No. 1, pp. 1–19.
- Mouffe, C. and E. Laclau. 1985. *Hegemony and Socialist Strategy: Towards a Radical Democratic Politics.* Verso, London.
- Ong, A. and S. Collier (eds.). 2005. *Global Assemblages: Technology, Politics and Ethics as Anthropological Problems*. Blackwell, Oxford.
- Ostrom, E. 1996. "Crossing the great divide: Coproduction, synergy and development." *World Development*, Vol. 24, No. 6, pp. 1073–1088.
- Paredes, M. 2006. "Discurso indígena y conflicto minero en el Perú." In J. Iguiñez, J. Escobal and C.I. Degregori (eds.), *SEPIA XI—Peru: El Problema Agrario en Debate*. SEPIA, Lima.

- Patel, S. and D. Mitlin. 2002. "Sharing experiences and changing lives." *Community Development Journal*, Vol. 37, No. 2, pp. 125–136.
- Patel, S., C. d'Cruz and S. Burra. 2002. "Beyond evictions in a global city: People-managed resettlement in Mumbai." *Environment and Urbanization*, Vol. 14, No. 1. pp. 159–172.
- Perreault, T. 2006. "From the guerra del agua to the guerra del gas: Resource governance, neoliberalism and popular protest in Bolivia." *Antipode*, Vol. 38, No. 1, pp. 150–172.
- Platteau, J-P. 1994a. "Behind the market stage where real societies exist—Part 1: The role of public and private order institutions." *Journal of Development Studies*, Vol. 30, No. 3, pp. 533–577.

— 1994b. "Behind the market stage where real societies exist—Part II: The role of moral norms." Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 30, No. 4, pp. 386–422.

- Putnam, R. 2000. *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. Simon and Schuster, New York.
- ——. 1993. Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Santiago, M.L. 2006. *The Ecology of Oil: Environment, Labor, and the Mexican Revolution, 1900–1938.* Cambridge University Press, New York.

Sassen, S. 2004. "Local actors in global politics." Current Sociology, Vol. 52, No. 4, pp. 649-670.

- Scoones, I. 1998. *Sustainable Rural Livelihoods: A Framework for Analysis*. Working Paper 72. Institute for Development Studies, Brighton.
- Scott, J. 1976. *Moral Economy of the Peasant: Rebellion and Subsistence in South East Asia*. Yale University Press, New Haven, CT.
- Stokes, S. 1995. *Cultures in Conflict: Social Movements and the State in Peru*. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Stone, D. 2000. "Non-governmental policy transfer: The strategies of independent policy institutes." Governance: An International Journal of Policy and Administration, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 45–62.
- Tarrow, S. 1994. *Power in Movement: Collective Action, Social Movements and Politics.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Tilly, C. 2004a. *Contention and Democracy in Europe, 1650–2000.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- ------ 1995. Popular Contention in Great Britain, 1758-1834. Paradigm Publishers, Boulder, CO.
- ------. 1985. "Models and realities of popular action." Social Research, Vol. 52, No. 4, pp. 717–747.
- Townsend, J., G. Porter and E. Mawdesley. 2004. "Creating spaces of resistance: Development NGOs and their clients in Ghana, India and Mexico." *Antipode*, Vol. 36, No. 5, pp. 871–889.
- Vittor, L. 2009. "CONACAMI y el despertar del movimiento indígena en el Perú." In J. de Echave, R. Hoetmer and M. Palacios (eds.), *Minería y Territorio en el Perú. Conflictos, Resistencias y Propuestas en Tiempos de Globalización*. Programa de Democracia y Transformación Global, Lima.
- ———. 2008. Resistencias Comunitarias a la Minería: La Experiencia de CONACAMI. Confederación Nacional de Comunidades del Perú Afectadas por la Minería, Lima.
- von Weizsäcker, E.L, O.R. Young and M. Finger. 2005. *Limits to Privatization: How to Avoid Too Much of a Good Thing.* Earthscan Publications, London.
- Watts, M. 1983 Silent Violence. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- World Bank. 2005. *World Development Report 2006: Equity and Development*. World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Zoomers, A. 1999. *Linking Livelihood Strategies to Development: Experiences from the Bolivian Andes.* Royal Tropical Institute/Center for Latin American Research and Documentation, Amsterdam.
- ——. 1998. Estrategias Campesinas en el Surandino de Bolivia: Intervenciones y Desarrollo Rural en el Norte de Chuquisaca and Potosí. CEDLA/CID/PLURAL, La Paz.

UNRISD Programme Papers on Civil Society and Social Movements

PP CSSM 32	Social Movements and Poverty in Developing Countries Anthony Bebbington, October 2010
PP CSSM 31	Noble Networks? Advocacy for Global Justice and the "Network Effect" Jem Bendell and Annekathrin Ellersiek, February 2009
PP CSSM 30	Toward a Typology of Civil Society Actors: The Case of the Movement to Change International Trade Rules and Barriers Manuel Mejido Costoya, October 2007
PP CSSM 29	Political Space for NGOs in UN World Summit Processes Britta Sadoun, February 2007
PP CSSM 28	The Rise and Development of the Global Debt Movement: A North-South Dialogue Yovana Reyes Tagle and Katarina Sehm Patomäki, January 2007
PP CSSM 27	Global Tax Initiatives: The Movement for the Currency Transaction Tax Heikki Patomäki, January 2007
PP CSSM 26	Transnational Civil Society Movements: The State of Anticorruption Efforts Nelson J.V.B. Querijero and Ronnie V. Amorado, August 2006
PP CSSM 25	The Global Women's Rights Movement: Power Politics around the UN and WSF Wendy Harcourt, July 2006
PP CSSM 24	The Global Justice Movement: How Far Does the Classic Social Movement Agenda Go in Explaining Transnational Contention? Marco Giugni, Marko Bandler and Nina Eggert, June 2006
PP CSSM 23	Trends in Government Support for Non-Governmental Organizations: Is the "Golden Age" of the NGO Behind Us? Catherine Agg, June 2006
PP CSSM 22	NGOs and Social Movements: A North/South Divide? Alejandro Bendaña, June 2006
PP CSSM 21	The Social Bases of the Global Justice Movement: Some Theoretical Reflections and Empirical Evidence from the First European Social Forum Donatella della Porta, December 2005
PP CSSM 20	Le Commerce Equitable Murat Yilmaz, December 2005
PP CSSM 19	The Contemporary Global Social Movements: Emergent Proposals, Connectivity and Development Implications Kléber B. Ghimire, August 2005
PP CSSM 18	UN World Summits and Civil Society: The State of the Art Mario Pianta, August 2005
PP CSSM 17	Civil Society in United Nations Conferences: A Literature Review Constanza Tabbush, August 2005
PP CSSM 16	Environmental Movements, Politics and Agenda 21 in Latin America María Pilar García-Guadilla, August 2005

Continued

PP CSSM 15	Environmental Movements in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Political Ecology of Power and Conflict Cyril I. Obi, January 2005
PP CSSM 14	Islamisme et pauvreté dans le monde rural de l'Asie centrale post-soviétique: Vers un espace de solidarité islamique? Habiba Fathi, November 2004
PP CSSM 13	Agricultural Restructuring and Trends in Rural Inequalities in Central Asia: A Socio-Statistical Survey Max Spoor, November 2004
PP CSSM 12	Agrarian Research Institutes and Civil Society in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan: In Search of Linkages Malcolm D. Childress, November 2004
PP CSSM 11	Post-Soviet Institutional Design, NGOs and Rural Livelihoods in Uzbekistan Deniz Kandiyoti, November 2004
PP CSSM 10	Civil Society and Social Movements: The Dynamics of Inter- sectoral Alliances and Urban-Rural Linkages in Latin America Henry Veltmeyer, October 2004
PP CSSM 9	Civil Society and the Uncivil State: Land Tenure in Egypt and the Crisis of Rural Livelihoods Ray Bush, May 2004
PP CSSM 8	Peasant Associations in Theory and Practice Nora McKeon, Michael Watts and Wendy Wolford, May 2004
PP CSSM 7	Understanding the Evolving Diversities and Originalities in Rural Social Movements in the Age of Globalization Neil Webster, February 2004
PP CSSM 6	The Agrarian Question, Access to Land, and Peasant Responses in Sub-Saharan Africa Archie Mafeje, May 2003
PP CSSM 5	Women's Movements in Egypt, with Selected References to Turkey Nadje S. Al-Ali, April 2002
PP CSSM 4	Grassroots Movements, Political Activism and Social Development in Latin America: A Comparison of Chile and Brazil Joe Foweraker, August 2001
PP CSSM 3	Social Movements, Activism and Social Development in the Middle East Asef Bayat, November 2000
PP CSSM 2	Civil Society Organizations and Service Provision Andrew Clayton, Peter Oakley and Jon Taylor, October 2000
PP CSSM 1	Trade Unions and NGOs: A Necessary Partnership for Social Development Dan Gallin, June 2000

October 2010
UNRISD/PPCSSM32/10/1

United Nations Research Institute for Social Development

UNRISD is an autonomous agency engaging in multidisciplinary research on the social dimensions of contemporary problems affecting development. Its work is guided by the conviction that, for effective development policies to be formulated, an understanding of the social and political context is crucial. The Institute attempts to provide governments, development agencies, grassroots organizations and scholars with a better understanding of how development policies and processes of economic, social and environmental change affect different social groups. Working through an extensive network of national research centres, UNRISD aims to promote original research and strengthen research capacity in developing countries.

Current research programmes include: Civil Society and Social Movements; Democracy, Governance and Well-Being; Gender and Development; Identities, Conflict and Cohesion; Markets, Business and Regulation; and Social Policy and Development.

A list of UNRISD's free and priced publications may be obtained by contacting the Reference Centre:

UNRISD • Palais des Nations • 1211 Geneva 10 • Switzerland Phone 41 (0)22 9173020 • Fax 41 (0)22 9170650 info@unrisd.org • www.unrisd.org